c
-
8
g
H

GLORIAM

Loyola University Chicago

e Loyola eCommons
Master's Theses Theses and Dissertations
1940

French Influence West of the Mississippi River
Before 1803

Lillian M. Berleman
Loyola University Chicago

Recommended Citation

Berleman, Lillian M., "French Influence West of the Mississippi River Before 1803" (1940). Master's Theses. Paper S0.
http://ecommons.luc.edu/luc_theses/50

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Theses and Dissertations at Loyola eCommons. It has been accepted for inclusion in

Master's Theses by an authorized administrator of Loyola eCommons. For more information, please contact ecommons@luc.edu.

This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-Noncommercial-No Derivative Works 3.0 License.
Copyright © 1940 Lillian M. Berleman



http://ecommons.luc.edu
http://ecommons.luc.edu/luc_theses
http://ecommons.luc.edu/td
mailto:ecommons@luc.edu
http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/
http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/
http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/

FRENCH INFLUENCE WEST OF
THE MISSISSIPPI RIVER
BEFORE 1803
by \
Lillian M. Berleman

A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the
Requirements for the Degree
of
Master of Arts
in
Loyola University

Ohicago, Illinois
1940




‘)

FRENOH INFLUENCE WEST OF THE MISSISSIPPI
RIVER BEFORE 1803

»
TABLE OF CONTENTS :
Page
Intrﬁuction....'...tll.. DDDDD O 20 ¢ 2 00 O 0 @ 060 OO eSS PN e o L N BN

Chap. I Early French Traders and Explorers, 1673-1750c¢.....l

Chap.II French Trading Posts and Forts in the Missouri
v‘lley’ 1673-1763.’o.ooc.oo.’0oooo.o..oooo&aoooo...l‘

Chap.III Personnel and Conduct of the Fur Tradee...........38

Chap.IV 8t. Louis Replaces Montreal as Headquarters of
the Fur Tr‘d°0000¢o-..oo-oooooo-oncooooo-oooooooo.‘a

Chap. V Traders and Missionariesec.ccccceeeeceeo.. eresene «80

Chap.VI Later French Establishments, Missions and Poats
1763‘1803‘...‘00000‘O.‘OO..‘.O..‘Q..‘ ooooooooo 000074

Appendix; Manuel Lisa, Spanish Rival of French Control of
weatﬁrn Trm°.0‘.¢.tOoc‘tooo.oo.oo.. oooooooo * o a0 O 92

conclu'ion: G 6 9 8 ¢ 060 06069 85 068 80090000000 € B O & 0 & 00 0 s 0P S P e s e s 00..124




FRENCH INFLUENCE WEST OF THE «
MISSISSIPPI RIVER BEFORE 1803

Intioduction

It 1s usually held that Francp.jleft no permaneant influ-
ences within the boundaries of the United States, that in addi-
tion to a few place names, maps, and the development of the fur
trade, nothing more renained‘than a 'lgng on the 1lips of some
straggling boatmen or vagabond half~breed." There is a dis-
quieting suspicion in the writer's mind that an occasional
settlement of permanent nature may have quietly survived.

The permanence of these influences may be seen if one
follows the explorations of the early voyageurs and explorers
along the great western rivers that flow 1hto the Missiaesippi
and investigate the history of the trading posts established to
carry on the fur trade. Most of the great rivers that flow into
the Mississippi were first navigated by Frenchmen, missionaries
and traders. Traders &and coureurs de bois pushed their traffio
into the most remote wilds in the pursuit of the fur trade.
French beads and cloth, French tobacco and brandy were to be
found among the Indians everywhere and showed the vast extent of
the French interior commerce.

It 1s possible to approach this toplc from the following
viewpointa: the records of the fur trade, the geneology of

French families in the west, missionary records, French-Spanish




trade relations in New Mexico and the study of place naqes. In
the library of the Missouri Historical S8oociety are pres;rved the
records of the French fur trade. These doounentsﬂlhov the tre-
mendous activity of the early Frenchmen in the Trans-Mississippi
West during the French occupation. Amgng the other historiocal
records there are the portraits of Frenchmen and French women
who settled Upper Louisiana. 0ld Madame Chouteau is there, and
the fiery Spaniard, Lisa, the only Spadiard who seemed able to
break the French monopoly of the fur trade in these years,

It is to be the aim of this study to examine the work of
some of these Frenchmen in the west, in order to learn the
extent of the influence which the fur trade had in the develop-
ment of the Mississippi Valley. The work, then, presents infor-
mation of general French beginnings in the west with particular
emphasis on the fur trade., It attempts to show that there was
continual ooccupation of the west by Frenchmen from Father -
Marquette's time until the Americans came in 1804, It includes
much that is common knowledge and something of the more recent
historical writings. The story here presented is indeed a most
inadequate record of the accomplishments of Frenchmen in the

west and leaves much to be learned by further study.

Lillian M. Berleman




CHAPTER 1
EARLY FRENCH TRADERS AND EXPLORERS 1673~1750

In 1871, Jean Talon, French Intendant in Quebec decided
to occupy the interior of the North American Continent, to con-
trol its rivers and hold it for France. To that end, he
availed himself of the services of thé' Jesuits, military men,
and fur traders. He commanded Daumont 8t. Lusson to take formal
possession of the whole interior of lofth America for the French
King, Louis XIV, and at the same time to search for copper mines
on Lake Superior.

Accordingly, St. Lusson set out with a small party of men
and Nicholas Perrot as his interpreter. Messages were sent to
all Indian tribes inviting them or» their representatives to meet
the deputy of the governor at Sault St. Marie in the following
spring. There, June 14, 1671, was enacted one of the most color-
ful ceremonies of our ocolonial history. According to Parknanti
S8t. Lusson's men, armed and fully equipped, assembled on & hill.
There were preseant also, four Jesuit misesionaries wearing their
vestments, They were Fathers Dablon, Druilletes, Allouez and
Andre, All about were Indians, very attentive and deeply im-
pressed. Father Dablon, the Superior of the Great Lakes
Missions, blessed the huge wooden oross and it was reared ‘and
planted in the ground, while the Frenchmen, uncovered, sang the

"Vexilla Regis." Then a cedar post was planted beside the cross,

l. Franois Parkman, L& Salle and the Discovery of the Great West,
Little Brown Co., Boston, 18232, 51
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bearing & metal plate with the royal arms. After the Frenchmen
sanganother hymn, St. Lusson advanced sword in hand and pro-
claimed in & loud voioce: "In the name of the Most High, Mighty
and Redoubted Monarch, Louis, Fourteeanth of‘that name, Most
onristian King of France and Navarre, I take possession of this
place, Sainte Marie du Saut, as also of Lakes Huron and Superior,
the Island of Manitoulin, and all countries, rivers, lakes and
streams adjacent thereunto--both those‘whioh have been dis-
covered hereafter---Long live the King." 2 The Frenchmen fired
their guns and shouted, "Long live the King!" and the Indians
joined in enthusiastically. When the uproar was over, Father
Allouez spoke very solemnly to the Indians trying to impress
them with the grandeur and power and righteousness of the King
of France to whom they must now be loyal. Thus France formally
entered the great west and began a period of exploration,
missionary endeavor, and trade which was to open a new countrff

Unofficially, Frenchmen had been roaming the country
south and west of the Great Lakes for several years searching
for furs. Among the earliest of record were two famous cour-
eurs de bois, Radisson and Grosseillers, who were in the 8ioux
country about 1661.3 Two of the earliest missionaries in fhil
area were Fathers Allouez and Menard who travelled around Lake

Superior as early as 16685,

8. Iud., 53

3. Theodore 0. Pease, g%ited gtates, Harcourt Brace, New York,
1937, 133
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The last thirty years of the seventeenth century saw the
exploration of the great Mississippi valley without muéﬂ attempt
at colonization. In 1673 Father Marquette and Joliet explored
the Mississippli River far enough to assure themselves that it
emptied into the Gulf of Mexico. Ig,£§78 DuLhut was in the Lake
guperior Country looking for ninerai;. During the years 1683-
1687 LaSalle explored the Missiassippi basin. He established
Fort 8t. Louis, 1685, on the LaVaca River in Texas. The history
of Fort 8t. Louis, sometimes called LaSalle's Lost Colony, is a
story in itself., After the founding of Biloxi in 1629 by Iber-
ville, traders, missionaries and explorers moved up and down the
Mississippl River and its tributaries and wrote their reports
for eager readers back in Canada and France.

All historians agree that French success in America was
based on the fur trade. Certainly, the trade in furs was such a
lucrative one that much was risked for it; kings and noblemen of
Europe conboted with each other for its monopoly.4 It was esti-
mated that $3,000 worth of merchandise taken into Indian country
brought a profit of $350,000 in three years. The following is a
list of some of the trade values:5

1 musket...coc.0.... 5 beavers (1n noutreal)
8 1lbs. of powder....4 "

40 1bs. of lead......3 U l l
l blanket...........2 " " ]
4 shirts.......... e L) L] "

] |

6 prs. stockings ...2

4. Wwilliam B Munro, Orusaders of New France, chronioles of
America Series; Allen Johnson, ed. Yale University Press, 191§
157

5. {big. flgli iakgn from Documents Relating to the Colonial His-
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This was about the rate of exchange carried on by couregrl in
the Indian villages. :

Until the founding of 8t. Louis at the confluence of the
¥issouri and Mississippi Rivers, all merchandise for the Indian
trade went out of Montreal by way o{iggchilimakinno. Montreal
was the headquarters for the fur trade until 1764, Each spring
saw flotillas of canoces drifting down to lontfeal laden with
pelts, collected by bartering with the*Indisns in the west or by
trapping. All the townspeople turned out to greet the voyagers
as they returned. 1In fact, as soon as the rivers thawed out,
lookouts were posted on the river banks to let the townspeople
know when the cances drifted into sight. Just as soon as word
of their arrival spread around, church bells began to ring,
shops closed, amusement booths were set up and everyone re-
Jo;ood. The flotilla of 1693 was composed of four hundred
canoes, two hundred coureurs, twelve hundred Indians and furs =
valued at 800,000 livrec.e Warehouses ;n Canada held the furs in
order to keep the prices up in Europe.

France was more successful than other countries in the
fur trade because Frenchmen adapted themselves tc Indian ways.
The French temperament was more supple, courageous, ronanﬁic and

inured to hardship., If the coureurs de bois (or wood runners)

8. Ibid., 167

7. George Hanotaux, Histotfye des Colonies Francaises, Societe de
L'Histoire Nationale, Paris, I, 130

|
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gometimes sank to the level of the aavages? those who c;iticised
then most were often their competitors in the trade or ;hose who
profited by their services. The Canadian settlements tried to
discourage this tendency of their young men to leave home and
follow the rivers into the woods. They complained bitterly that
the best and most virile blood in the colony was out in the
woods~--hundreds of miles away from their homes where they were
needed. La Hontan, in one of his studfea found thicty or forty
coureurs de bois at every Illinois polt.9 However, the fur trade
prospered for France and the French influence remained dominant
in the wilderness.

Franoce hid definite policies to enforce as to its colon-
ial development. With the small French population in Canada
concentration was considered necessary and there was much legis-
lation against the coureur de bois. The merchants of Montreal
added their protest against trading with remote Indian tribes,”
fearing that furs would not come to their city, Repeatedly
these merchants harassed the exploiters of the western trade,
and opposed every new post until assured that it would traffic
only with Indians who would not in any case come to Montreal.

Many Frenchmen in Europe and Canada realized the impor-
tance of building posts at strategic locations. Hanotaux wro%g

8. Agnes Laut, Pathfinders of the Nest, MacMillan Co. 1907, 3
9. Munro, Crusaders of New France, 165 note from La Hontan

10, Hanotaux, Histof¥® des Colonieg Francaises, I, 103

14
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'that if two or more posts such as that of Detroit, vhich he
gallantly called, "The Paris of New France," had been oltab-
1ished, France would have dominated the continent.

The first twenty«five years of the eighteenth century saw
a great deal of French exploration of the Mississippi Valley and
its tributaries. 1In 1714, Bienville at Biloxi, despatched an
expedition under the command of Louis Juchersau, 8ieur de 8t.
Denis, to trade with the Spaniards in few Mexico. He reached a
Spanish mission on the Gila River, where he reported that he was
well received%l (on this, his first expedition, St. Denis is
reported to have carried 43,000 livres worth of merchandise. He
had in his party several Canadians and he planned to erect a
post, called St. Jean along the Red River.) Omn his second expe-
dition which took him into Mexico, 8t. Denis was captured by the
Spaniards and held in prison for two years.

Another active French explorer in 1714 was Veniard de -
Bourgmont, He is reported to have explored the Missouri Valley
many times but only two documents exist which supply accurate
information of his early journeyc.la de Bourgmont made friends |
for France among the Indians of the Pawnee, Osage, Arapaho and
Kansas tribes. More of de Bourgmont's explorations will be con-
sidered in Chapter 1I.

At about the same time as St. Denis and de Bourgmont were

11, Albert B, Hart, The American lation A History, Harper Bros.
New York 1905, 83

13, Narc de 711110rl, La Decouverte du Missouri et L'Histoire du
Ft. Orlean-, 1673-1788, Paris, 1935, 45, 59,
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exploring the west, Bernard LaHarpe built a fort about eighty
piles above Fort Nachitoches. This fort was to act as : buffer
against the Spaniards and also develop trade among the Caddo
Indians. LaHarpe had explored the upper Arkansas and knew the
need of setilement if France wished to hold the country against
gpain. Although the company which financed him was interested
only that mines be found, LaHarpe was sincere in his attempts to
build a permanent post. His colony at*LaHarpe was always in disd
tress, because of the stern quality of the land and trouble with
the Indians, He begged the government at Biloxi for more
families for his settlement and it is an interesting oommentary
on the type of French colonist in Louisiana that LaHarpe spec-
ified German and Swiss fauilies for his 1ittle post. LaHarpe
was neglected, howsver, no colonists were sent out, and the post
was abandoned by the French to be ococupied by the spaniardl}3

In 1717, at the Oouncil of Paris, it was decided to splft
the French colony in Americs into two separate unitas, Canada and
Louisiana, the dividing line to be 40 degrees N, Lat. The north
ern section was to be governed by Quebec and the southern by New|
Orleans., This amputation was bitterly resented by Oanada. Her
explorerlAand missionaries had opened up the Mississippi qountry;
had discovered and recorded portages, mapped the great valley,
established posts for trade and communication, and had converted

many Indians.

13, Hanotaux, HistotYd des Colonies Francaiges, I, 301
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At the founding of New Orleans, 1718, Crozat the governor
and founder was given a charter for Louisiana octablilh;ng the
"laws, edicts, and ordinanoél of the realm and the customs of
Paris.” The charter also granted a twelve year monopoly of min-
ing, land grants, and slavery from "New Mexico to the English in
Carolina.® It was believed at that time that the lands border-
ing on the Mississippi River were rich in mineral deposits.

John Law, & 8Scotchman, who was friend and financial
adviser of the Frenoh Regent, organized a plan for the develop-
ment of Louisiana., The plan was called the Missliesippi Oompany.
A national bank was formed in Paris with Law as director, in
1717. 8Shares in the company were sold to the French public and
an era of speculation set in which ended abruptly three yoiis
later in 17230, This company did little to establish France in
the west, It was a get-rich=quick-scheme and as such it attiac—
ted settlers who were unwilling to work at the tasi of colonigd-
tion.

Father Charlevoix, too, saw the need of posts in key
positions. In 1721, he wrote from Kaskaskia, "There is no
place in Louisiana more fit, in my opinion, for a settleuent14

than this, nor where it is of more consequence to have one."

His suggestions were very definite. After travelling through

14, Pnjamin F. French, ed., Historical Journmal of Pierre F.X,
Charlevoix in Letters Addressed to the Duchess of Lesdis

guleres, Appleton, New York, 1851, 111, 133
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she Mississippi valley, he advised the building of & post in the |
country of the Alibamon Indians to hold back the Englil;. He
recommended another establishment to keep open the line of ocom~
sunication between Canada and Louisiana and two posts in the
country of the Cadoqui Indians to kegp back the Spaniards. 1In
April of 1733, Father Charlevoix after the founding of New
Orleans wrote, "They are engaged at present in seeking to the
weat of the Mississippi, & place fit +4 make a settlement whioch
may bring us nearer to lexioo..%?but if they (Frenchmen) do not
begin by cultivating the lands, commerce, after having enrioched
some private persons, will soon diop, and the colony will not be
established. The neighborhood of the Spaniarda may have its use,
but let us leave it to them to approach us as much as they will,
we are not in a condition and we have no need, to extend our-
selves farther. They are peaceful enough in this country; and
they will never be strong enough to give us any uneasineco.la -
Father Charlevoix's reports gave a true and helpful piocture of
the possibilities of French colonial development., Thus it
appears that the French in Louisiana were mainly concerned with
the Spanish trade. |

| In 1714, while Frenchmen in southern Louisicnn ware‘try-
ing to establish trade relations with the Spaniards, the Canad-
ians in the north were at war with the Fox Indians., The fight-

ing stopped two years later, 1716, and trading was resumed,

15, Ibid., 190

16, Ibid., 183
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although the peace with the Indians was inconclusive. In Mon-
greal, the Rochelle Company which held the fur nonopol; | at that
time, changed its policy, and all the important posts were re-
occupied and many new ones were built.17 It had become evident
to the Canadian officials that the !ggy could not be protected
by the missionaries alone, or by unregulated tradors.lerhe Jjeal-
ousy which appeared between Canada and Louisiana added a new
difficulty at this time. "Traders froh the two colonies met in
the Mississippi Valley and friotion was unavoidable." Mining
aotivities made inroads into the fur oountry.lgln 1718 the
Illinois ocountry became & part of the Loulsiana although its
boundary was never settled.

The Canadian colony?!s rew~gocupation of the western posts
after the first war with the Fox Indianse, was not accomplished
without another struggle with them. fhcir home was in the Wis-
consin area and as many of the trade routes led through this ~
country, fur trade was for a time at a standstill, A Fox Chief-

17, Daniel K. Clark, West in American History, Orowell Pub, Go.
New York, 1937, 7 A

18, Ibid., 78

19, French, ed., Historical Journal of Pierre F. X. Charlevoix
III, 304, "Renault was a director of mines in 1719, He ar-
rived in New France with a large number of miners and Santo
Domingo slaves. These were the first slaves in the Illinois
country. Renault had large grants of land on the east and
west sides of the Mississippi River. On the Illinois side
he founded 8t. Philip and on the Missouri side he worked a
mine called fLaMotte!, He took out large quantities of lead
and & little silver, He sold his holdings in 1744 and re-
turned to France."
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¢tain, Kiala, whom Dr. Kellogg calls a precursor of Pontiac and
recumseh worked tirelessly and quietly to build up & great con-
spiracy against the Frenoh., He was not able to hold all his
allies together but in the years between 1737 and 1740 all the
resourcea of the Canadian Govcrnnentiggre taxed to the utmost to
save its Western Empire,. Battles wére fought over a wide ex-
panse of country f rom the Wabash to the Des Moines River and
many valiant Frenchmen lost their lived in this second Fox lnr?o
It was during the progress of the second Fox war that
Pierre Gaultier de Varennes, Sieur de Verendry planned to find
the River of the,lest.ZIDuring ocolonial times the way to Asia
was 8till sought through North America. Englishmen hoped to
find the Northwest Passage; the Spaniards were looking for the
"Northern Mystery Where was supposed to be the Strait of Anian

33
leading to India," Now in 1731, Verendrye set out to find the

"River of the West" for France. -

Verendrye was given encouragement by Governor Beauharnais
of New France, but he received no more substantial financial
assistance than & monopoly of the fur trade in the regions to be |
-diloovored.aarinding no better way to raise money, Verendrye
entered into partnership with some Montreal norchanta.agergndryo
was mostly concerned with the river to the west and to him the

30, Olark, ;%gt in American History, 79
3l. Ibid.,

32. Ibid., 34
33, Ibid., 7®

4. Ly J. Burgoc, Journals and Letters of Verendrye and His Sons,
(Lawrence Ohamplain Society, Toronto, 1937, 8
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gur trade was just a means to an end. *Verendrye's engigicl
were entirely absorbed im the cause of exploration. He was no
pusiness man and was & very indifferent trader so it is quite
possible that the financial results of the monopoly thrust upen
him by the French court in lieu of mpre tangible support, whioh
1eft him heavily in debt, may not have been very profitable even
to the merchants who equipped his expudition.'as

In 1731 Verendrye set out with & emall party which in-
cluded his three eldest sons and a nephew, Lt. Jemmeraie. With-
in ten years he had built six forts, known as the post of the
western sea, stretching from Rainy Lake to the mouth of the Sas-
katchewan River., At Fort 8t. Pierre (Minn. side of Rainy Lake)
Verendrye did a flourishing fur bnsinels.ze

By the time 8t. Charles was built in 17323, the merchants
in Montreal were becoming disinterested in Verendryets expedi-
tion, so that he was obliged tc¢ journmey back to Montreal in order
to promise more furs and to gain continued support for his
posta. When he returned to his posts he had in his party Father
Aulneau, a Jesuit missionary who was to be the chaplaim of the
expediticn.z7
During the winter of 1735, the supplies of Verendrye's

western posts again gave out. Father Aulneau and Jean Verendrye

35, 1bid., &9

36, Agnes Laut, Pathfinders of the ¥West; MacMillan Co. London,
1908, 2306

27. Ibid., 2308

4
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with other voyageurs set out toward Montreal for help. They
gore surprised by the Sicux Indians and massacred. thélr bodies
wore later buried in the chapel at Fi. St. Charles. The much
pseded supplies arrived in June 1736, just in time for the trade
with the Indians who arrived that same month with their winter's
punt.

In 1737, Verendrye visited the Mandan Indians on the
upper Missouri and established friemdl} trade relations with
them, Four years later, 1743, his son Pierreled a party west-
ward and on New Year's day came in sight of the Bighorn Moun-
tains.nglthaugh Verendrye did not find the River of the West,
his explorations and writings were helpful tovthose who fole
lowed him. The posts he established continued to carry on trade
for several yeurgg After France withdrew from North America,

Verendrye's posts were used by English and American traders in

turn. -*
28, 1bid., 209

38, Olark, ¥est in American History, 79
80, Burpee, Journals and Lettera of Verendraye, 8
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CHAPTER 11
THE FRERCH IN THE MISSOURI VALLEY

One of the sections of the middle west where the French

concentrated their efforts at colonization and trade was that of
the Missouri Valley. Their object was the establishment of
trading posts. The traders in this siea were interested only in
sur trading with the Indians. Early French explorers loocated
sany western trives of Indians during the latter part of the
seventeenth century. In 16723, the Pawﬁbeo were located on
Father Marquette's nap.SIIn 1694 Canadian traders were among the
osage and Missouri tribca.azrronchnen ususlly made friends and
allies of the Indian tribes wherever they encountered them.
Gradually, as Freanch gune, clothes, and other articles of trade
spread among their Indian allies, and they in turn bartered with
the Indians of the Spanish colony, the government in New Mexico
became alarmed at the proximity of the Frenoch,

In his report of his expedition tc El1 Cuartelejo, an af:i
in South-Eastern Colorado, Juan de Archuleta referred to French
traders. He said of the Indians, "with them at that time the
French were trading.gs Reports of French activities just east of
New Mexico greatly disturbed the Spanish Colonial Government in
Santa Fe., In 1695 Da Vargas, the governor of New Mexico, became

alarmed and requested two pieces of artillery of the Viceroy in

31. Ruben Gold Thwaites, ed.,, "Perrot Memoirs,¥ Qollections Of

State Historiocal Society of Wisconsin, XVI, 23

33. Alfred B, Thomas, ther Coronado, U. of Okla., Press, Norman
Okla, 1935, 13

33. Ibid., 53




Mexico. Da Vargas had received a report from the Apac%:s that

the French were planning an attach upon the Spaniards. The

artillery was not sent. In 1687 fresh news arrived of Frenoch
progress westward. The Navajos, accustomed to making long jour-
neys to Quivira, frequently fought the French and Pawnees in
alliance at that time, and brought the spoils of battle to New
Mexico. In 1887, the Navajos inde another such journey to the
east. Returning in 1699, they appeare& at a falr in New Mexico
laden with jewels, carbines, cannon, powder flasks, gamellas,
sword belta, waistcoats, shoes and small brass pots. "They then
relatéd to the astonished Spaniards the defeat of the year befor
and praised the French for their valor, their dexterity in shoots
ing and their readiness in re-~inforcing their allios.'as

Alarmed by reports of French movements westward, several
expeditions went out from Santa Fe to investigate rumors of
Frenoch activities. One of these expeditions was that of -
Ulibarri, in 1706. He letvout northeast-ward from Santa Fe to-
ward E1 Cuartelejo. One member of his expedition is particu-
larly interesting. He was Juan de la Archeveque, a survivor of
La Salle's Texas colony. "Generally oredited with a hand in the
murder of his chief, this renegade, seised by Leon's expedition
into east Texas in 1680, eventually found his way into New

3¢, 1bid., 13
35. Ibid., 14
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Mexico where he married and became a respectable citizen and
36 }

L

trader.® |
After travelling several days, Ulibarrits party arrived

jn Apache country. The Apaches invited the Spaniards to join

3 them in a raid on the French and Pawgg?a, as a practical demon-
stration of Spanish friendship. "However, with an eye to busi-
ness and his mind on the snows soon to fall in the S8anta Fe
gountains, Ulibarri promised to come afother ycar.'s He was in-
terested, however, in these stories of the French, and the
Apaches frankly told of their latest exploit. Apparently, some
time before Ulidarri's arrival, the Pawnees, accompanied by some
French, had intended to attach El Cuartelejo, assuming that the
Apache braves were away hunting buffalo. The Indians, learning
of their approach, withdrew, #nd the enenmy dispersed., At once
the Apaches set out with a war party to follow. In a little
wood along & stream, they caught up with a white man and woman™
whom they murdered. The bald head of the man they let alone,
but they scalped the woman, carried off a red cap, some powder

38
and a gun, Archevegue at once recognised the gun as French.

36. Oharies Hockett, Pichardo's Treatise of the Limite of Louisi-
ana and Texas, U. of Texas Press, Austin, 1931, 186-187

37. Thomas, After cgrgnadg, 19

38, Thomas, ed., "Diary of Juan de Ulibarri to El Cuartelejo,
1706%, After Coronado, Austin, 1935, 70. "This man and his wife,
having beoome separated from the others, had fallen behind, and
they had killed them in a little wood along the river, and had
taken away the gun. They sent for it and promiped to show the
rest of the spoils. Having brought the gun, it surprised us,
particularly the Frenchman, Juan de Archeveque whom we had with
us. This man said he recognized the gun and that it belonged to

his kingmen.®




ypset by the interest the Spaniards showed in the 1nci§3nt the
Apaches altered their story swearing they had killed only a
pawnee chief,

Ulibarri made careful notes about the fertility of the
goil and the products raised in Cuaxiplejo. He noticed that
watermelons, naize, pumpkins, wheat and kidney besans were
raised. He commented at length upon the location of neighboring
trives, important rivers and their nnn%o. Finally he closed hiaj
survey with details that indicated the proximity of the riench.

El Cuartelejo would have been a splendid location for
either a French or a Spanish colony. It was a settlement of
rather peaceful Indians whose chief occupation was agriculture.
Their village was located north of the Arkansas River, called at
that time the Napestle, and jusf east of Horse Oreek. (38-40
degrees north latitude) This area of eastern Colorado and Wes-
tern Kansas, then known as Quivira was the scene of early Frenoh
trading, and later of fighting with the Spaniards. Ulibarri's
diary, his careful notea,‘lupply the first and only known de-
talled acoount of E1 Cuartelejo and sounds the first important
note of French activity near the Rocky Mountains. The presence
of these traders at such an early date is a fact hitherto unsus-
pected.

In 1719 more news of the French reached Santa Fe. 4

8soldier passing through New Mexico reported that 70 leagues from




ggnta Fe, géx thousand Frenchmen were marching to attaof the
gpaniardl. Greatly alarmed, Gov. Orug of Santa Fe wrote the
valero, the Mexican Viceroy and begged for long range guns,
powder, and money for the Spanish garrison. This report, though
it greatly excited the peéplo of»iew;!gxico, was certainly un-
¢rue. It is doubtful if there were half that many Frenchmen in
all North Amerioca outside of Canada.

Nevertheless, in that same year? 1719, another expedition
get out from Santa Fe over the same rouio a8 that of Ulibarri in
1706. This expedition, led by Valverde, sought information con-
cerning the exact location of the French settlements. He
visited camps of Indians that were friendly to the Spaniards and
listened to all their reports. One Apache héd received a gun
wound in & battle with the French and he reported to Valverde
that the French had, "built two pusbias, each of which is as
large as Taos. In them they lived together with the Jumanos afd
Pawnees to whom they hwe given large guna and have taught to
ahoot.'4°

Valverde later noted that the Apaches knew of Frenoch
settlements on a very large river, ocalled in New Mexico the Rlo
Jesus Maria (So. Platte) two towns on its northern bank be}ng

recently established. "From their old settlements they are re~

39, "Gov, Cruz to valero, Dec, 11, 1719," Thomas, After Coronadg
146
40. "Diary of the Campaign of Governor Antonio de Valverde
Againat the Ute and Comanche Indians, 1719," Thomas, After

Coronado, 133
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yaforcing those they have recently built with arms and every-
thing that was necessary; that among the French there ;;re beau-
¢1ful white women." The Indians even made motions to show that
the Frzgch women wear their hair tied on the crown of their
heads. ’ @

That same year, 1718, Valverde wrote to Valero that the
purpose of the French seemed to be to penetrate little by
1ittle into the Spanish country. Possfbly he referred to La
Harpe's colony. The report that the French traders had women
in their colony and that they seemed to be moving toward good
fars land, made them appear to be establishing themselves per-
manently in the west,

The Spaniards in Santa Fe deoidéd to settle the question
of the French advance, Accordingly, in 1730, Valverde, the
governor at Santa Fe, sent an expedition commanded by Villasur,
to find the French. In the investigation which followed this ™
ill-fated expedition it was disclosed that the Mexican govern-
ment intended and commanded Valverde personally to conduct this
expedition, It is evident that Mexico attached more importance
to the encroachments of the Freach than did the Governor at
S8anta Fe. Or, perhaps Valvtrdc had a premonition of what was to

happen. In any case, he was severely reprimanded for disobeying

4l. Ibid., "Valverde to Valero, Santa Fe, Nov, 30, 1718," 144
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orders and for having sen:aan inexperienced officer in Eio place
4o conduct this campaign.

Villasur reached the South Platte on August 68, 1730. For
a fow days he sent out a number of scouting parties to find the
rrench location. All his attempts tgi}ooate the French, to re-
ocopnoiter, or to parley with the Pawnees, the French allies,
brought no information whatever. "Vexed with the lack of re-
gults, he proposed to cross the river #nd secure the desired in-
formation by forece. His officers, more cautious, interpreted
the behavior of the Pawnees as & warning., The Pawnees had just
seized some Indian allies of the Spaniards bathing in the river,
In the end the officers prevailed and the expedition halte:?'

On the night of August 13, the Spaniards pastured their
horses in the tall grass and placed Indian sentinels to guard
the camp. Soon after sunset, sounds of a ltglking party were
heard. The guard reported a barking dog and noises as of peopxe
crossing the river. Villasur ordered the guard to check up, and
they later reported that all was well. As a matter of fact, the
events that followsed proved that the French were preparing to
attack.

There were some experienced frontiersmen in the Spanish
oamp who might have taken warning from the noises during éhe
43, Pichardo’s Treatise on the Limits of Loulsiana and Texas, I,

- 199, The said Don Antonio Valverde was prosecuted because

of not having gone in person o command this expedition."
43, Thomas, After Coromado, 38
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pighte L'Archeveque was with the Spaniards as interpreter. Val-
',rdg423d written to Valero the previous year conoernin; LtAche~
veque, *In accordance with the order, condition, and arrangement
under which he came here, he is at present married, with suffic-
jent means to live respectably, and.iqévery loyal to hig Majesty.
fe has accompanied me on this journey as a citizen and as inter-~
preter in his native tongue. He is ready to do whatever may de
required in the royal service." An Indhan scout, Naranjo, was
trustworthy and experienced and it is stmange that neither of
these two was apprehensive. 8Suddenly, at dawn while the Span-
jards were roping their horses and preparing their packs, a band
of Pawnees and Frenoch attacked with deadly effect. Taken com-
pletely by surprise, the Spanish horse guard lost valuable time
recovering their animals. Finally, rounded up they turned upon
their attackers and charged the enemy but the attempt was use-
less., The Pawnees, riding in a cirole poured a murderous fire™
upon the disorganiged camp.

The Spaniards suffered greatly. Left dead and dying in
the tall grass were the chaplain, Father Minguez, the Commander
Villasur, L'Acheveque, Oapt. Christoval, Naranjo the scout, and a
number of soldiers and servants varying in different accougts
from twenty~eight to forty-rive.451homas gives the site of this
battle as eight leagues from the confluence of the North amd

44, Piohardo's Treatise on the Limits of lLouisiana and Texas, I,M

186, 187
45, Ibid., I, 199
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gouth Platte Rivers, between the present towns of Maxwell and

&

prady, Nebraska.

Eventually, in September 1720, the Spanish survivors,
about 8ix in number, straggled into S8anta Fe, with the news of
their defeat. The blow was ornlhinggbbaeaidaa the thirty-two
widows and orphans, the New Mexican government faced the loss of
some of its best men, Valverde sadly sent the news of Villa-
sur's defeat to the Viceroy in Mexioco dnd requested re-inforce-
pents to resist an expected Frenoh invasion.

The importance attached to this battle indicates that
the New Mexican government considered the French settlements to
the east to be a serious menace to Spanish development., The sur-
vivors of the battle were questioned as to what evidences they
had of French occupation. Bartolome Guarduno testified that the
Cuartelejos had captured from the Pawnees, "some fowling pleces,
clothes, small short French iron axes....and a foot of a e
guilded silver chalice which they sold hin'igr two yards of sack
cloth, and two French guns for two horses. Martinesz, another
Spaniard, reported that, "along the margins of this river, the
Jesus Maria (South Platte), those of the Pawnee nation have their
rancherias; they are white Indians with pierced ears;....ﬁpese
Pawnees are the ones who attacked our men because on this river
they have four or five settlemente."?atherl testified in more

detail referring to the white women and even mentioning the

46. Declaration of Bartolome Garduno, Nov. 15, 1720, Thomas,
After Coronado, 173

|

47. Ibid., Declaration of Martinez, Mexico, Nov. 13, 1730, 170
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48
genner in which the French people prepared food.

In 1733, there was a Spanish investigation of ilzegal
grading between French Louisi:sa and New Mexico. Thomas summar-
jges the evidence as follows: *Several Spaniards were called in
to give testimony and knowledge of facts concerning trading with
the French. They, according to their declaration, were specifi-
celly questioned concerning the export of silver objects. Each
reported that he had never heard of anibne in the kingdom trad-
ing or dealing with any Frenchmen....didn't know where French
1ived....had seen only a few French muskets in possession of
Indians, perhaps an occasional sombrerc or 8o. As to silver
leaving New Mexico the only articles were such a8 spoons, ink-
stands, used as part of the equipment of expeditions., Official-
ly, the investigation concluded that there was no trading with
the French,*

The Platte River Valley was the scene of French attemptd#
to trade with the Spaniards in New Mexico. French success here
was very slight, and now they turned norfhwest-ward up the
Missouri Valley.

One of the earliest expeditions to go up the Missouri
River is recorded im the writings of Father Bergier, the ppster

of the Tamaroa Mission. In 1702, he mentions seventeen French-

men who left his village to ascend the Missouri two hundred

48, 1bid., Bustemente to Oasa Fuerte, Santa Fe, Apr.30,1737, 856
49, Ibid., 171




Vvl.,guoa, there to build a fort between the Pawnees and jhe Iowas,
s location somewhere along the Iowa and Nebraska line. 1In the
course of the expedition, they were attacked by Indiggs, but
spparently returned to the Tamaroa Mission unharmed.

Some time before 1705, a trader-named Lauerain had been
'up the Missouri River also, and had brought back a confused
socount of its course. 1In 1706, Bienville reported that a
couple of Oanadianasgad spent two year: going from one Indian
village to another. A canadian named Boudon assured Bienville
in 1708 that numerocus tin mines could be found along the Missouri,

Two yeari later, Darac was commissioned go vigit the tribes in
, 3
the Missouri Valley and trade with them. It was probably the

report of such traders as these that had so alarmed the Spaniaxis|

in Santa Fe.

According to Father Garraghan's account, the glamour gg
ol

the old frontier begins '1th the name of 8;:ur de Bourgmond,

Hanotaux calls him a true coureur de bois. [Etienne Veniard de
Bourgmond came of an o0ld family of Normandy. His father was a
doctor. He replaced Tonti at Fort Detroit in January, 1705, as
commatidant, He is accused by historians of mittreating the

50. Gilbert J. Garraghan, S, J. Ohapters In Frontier History,

Bruce Co., Milwaukee, 1934, 13
5l. Ibid., 83
58. Ibido, 63 L |
53. Garraghan, *The Emergence of the Missouri Valley Into Histomy,
Illinois Catholic Historical Review, April, 1937, IX, No. 4.

54. Hanotaux, Histoire des Colonies Francaises, I, 311
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indians while in command here. He deserted his post with Joli-
coeur, Vivier, La Roze and Madame Tichenet, but was oau;ht and
court-martialled Nov. 7, 1706, Because of Family connections,
cadillac interceded for Bourgmond and befriended him. There

geemed to be ngsaorious consequences_for Bourgmond following

this escapade. In 1712, he made his first acquaintance with the
Missouri Indians when a party of them had come to the relief of
DuBoisson, besieged at Detroit. He acébnpanied them on their
return to the west where he became the idol of the tribes up and
down the Missouri River.

Bourgmond s most important service to Francets cause in
the west occurred in the Missouri Valley. 1In 1714 he navigated
the Missouri as far as the Platte River, keeping an accurate log
of the voyage which De Villiers has recently dileoverod.ssln
November 1733, he arrived at the Missouri village with a party
of about forty Frenchmen and erected his fort known as Ft. -
Orleans,

Fort Orleans was erected on the north bank of the Missouin
River in present Carroll County, Missouri. The buildings in-
cluded a chapel, a warehouse and dwellings for the colonists.
Three officers accompanied Bourgmond, Jean de Pradel (1692-1764),
Simars de Belisle who had been with lLa Harpe in 1731 and Louis

8t. Ange de Bellerive (1701-1774). Bellerive was very capable

55, de Villiers, La ggoonverte du Missouri et L'Eistoire du Ft.
Orleans, Paris 4
56, Garraghan, thgters in Frontier History, 64




and greatly admired by the Indiasns. In addition to the‘orriocrc
and men, & missionary, Father Jean Bap;;ato Mercier of the
rauarod Mission accompanied the party.

In October, 1734, the Frenchmen at Fort Orleans prepared
s big reception for the chiefs of theiy Indian allies, Amid
salutes of musketry and exchange of courtesies, Bourgmond and the
chiefs smoked the Calumet and planned great things for France.
rhe Indiane expressed the wish to obey‘%he French, to lead them
jnto the Spanish country for purposes of trade and even to lend
thenselves as warriors against the Spaniards if the French wishel
1t.5arrance was most enthusiastic about Bourgmond's plan. The
French king received a delegation of Misscuri Indians at court,
allowed them to hunt in the woods of Boulogne and they even
danced at the opera in Paris, One of the Indian girls was bap-
tized at Notre Dame where she later married a Frenchman, Sergean
DuBois, After the death of her husband at Fort Orleans, Madame
DuBois travelled to Kaskaskia where she remarried. This Indian
delegation to France in 1725 was Bou;gnand'a plan to get support
for the French colonies in the west. In gratitude for his ser-
vices to France on the Missouri River, he received from the
French King, Louis XV, a patent of nobility.eorhe last note on
Fort Orleans is that it was ordered evacuated in 1728,

57, de v11%13rs, L& Decouverte du Missouri et L'Histoire du Ft.
v Orlean;94
58, Hanotaux, Histoire des Colonies Francaises, I, 3123
58. Jean Delanglez, S. J. The French Jesuits in Lower Louisians,
105, 1700~1763. Cath. U. of America, Wash., D.0., 1935

4

60. Garraghan, Chapters in Frontier History, 64
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Although much enthusiasm was stirred up in rrance by
pourgmond and his Indians, no further help was sent out to the
gissouri Valley. The Indians returned to their tribes, Bourg-
gond to his fort and after its evacuation, dropped from sight.
As & result of the activities of Frenchmen in the Missouri
valley, this area will remain predominantly French until the
fpouisiana Purchase in 1803.
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CHAPTER III
PERSONNEL AND CONDUCT OF THE FUR TRADE

The fur trade was the backbone of the commercial 1life of
éanada and its profits were very large. To assert her claim and
to protect the richest fur trade in the world, France built posts
at the chief points of vantage. In 1718, the value of the trade
was estimated to be 363,000 1livres; in 1737, 3,088,000 livres;
then it dropped to 700,000 livres; in 1744 it was said to be
worth 1,837,000 livres and in 1754 it was reported as worth

61
5,933,000 livres.

Two main objects called for the erection of forte and gar-
risoned posts by the French government in North America. First,
there was the need of strongly built posts for establishing the
claims of New France. Second, fortified posts were needed for
the protection of the trade routes. 8Success of the fur trade
depended upon control of the trade routes and for this purposef
the French government, beginning in the 17th century, construc-
ted fortified places at strategic locations where now exist

63
thriving cities.

Although the locations of the French forts were chosen
with much foresight and military skill, they were not exclpsivehr
of a military nature. Michilimackinac, Arkansas, Bonsecour, St.
Pierre, St. Charles and many others were missions as well as

trading posts. In addition to bringing the true faith to the

€1. Hanotaux, Histoire des Colonies rranoailes, I, 121
63. grnest XOthis' 8 ,,"?t° and T; ing Posts of the
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vIndians, the work of the missionaries in these posts kept the
indians docile and proteg;ed them a8 well from unjust treatment
by unscrupulous traders. Adjacent to many posts one would have
gound & 1ittle cluster of Canadian dwellings who tennants lived
ander the protection of the garriaoniitnd obeyed the arbitrary
will of the commandant. Unfortunately for the permanency of
these establishments, agriculture was neglected for the more
congenial pursuits of the fur trado.64‘

"The posts were for use as the headquarters of the cour-
eurs de bols--They likewise served as places of defense in the
event of attack and of rendezvous when a trading expedition to
Montreal was being organized. It was not the policy of the
French authorities, nor was it the plan of the coureurs, that
any considerable amount of trading should take place at these
western stockades. They were only the outposts intended to
keep the trade running in its proper channels. In a word, it *
was the aim of the French government to being the trade to the
colony, not to send the colony overland to the aavagea.'es

Forts were in command of military officers and were of
course part of the military equipment of Candda, supported by
the government. Supplies were carried to them at the expense of

the government, as well as presents for the Indians, "to keep

63, Munro, Crusaders of New France, Yale U. Press, 1018, 158

64. Voorhis, Historic Forts and Trading Posts, Intro., 2

65, Munro, Orusaders of New France, 166
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'ihen friendly.'eeThere is reason to suspect, however, tgat much
#f what the royg% bounty provided for this purpose was diverted
‘ %0 private usee.

i The following is a 1list of French posts in the valley of
the Mississippi River north of the Ohip River, Not all the
forts mentioned were in existence at the.lame time, for many had
peen destroyed before the cession of Canada. The list includes
all the French forts (within the U.S.)Qihich had been construoc-

68
ted at any time as far a8 known to Ernest Voorhis,

Miami (So. Bend) Ind. Vincennes, Ind.
Crevecoeur, Ill. 1680 Cahokia, Ill. 1699
Ouatanon Chartres, 111, 1717

8t. Genevieve, Mo. 1755 8t. Philip, Ill., 1719

8t. Nioholas Baje~des-Puants, Wis., 1685
Ft. Kansas Chagouamigon, Wis, 1660
8t. Croix Ft. Pepin, Minn.

Le Sueur Bonsecour, Minn.
Beauharnois, Minn., 1737 L. Builtier

8t. Louis

Ft. Beauharnois was a French military post on Lake Pepip,
an enlargement of the Mississippli River. It was build in 1737
and maintained for a time as a missionary and trading station.
Sometime before the cession of Canada it was deserted or des-
troyed.

Ft. Kansas was located on the right bank of the Missouri
River at the mouth of the little Kansas River. It is named on
Bougainville's map of 1757 as having a garrison with commander

dependent on New Orleans. It was probably an outpost of Ft.

67. Munro, Jrusaders of New France, 171
68, Voorhis, Historic Forts and Trading Posts, 13, 14
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,l‘ms a {m miles down the Missouri River. It is sh evrn on
gooque's M (No. 96) of 1763 and Bellin's map 1755 (N o. 93) and
pranville' ap of 1755 (No. 97). Fort Orleans is mar ked "aban-
aoned” on Minville®s map of 1755,

Ft.8i, genevieve was built on Ehs right bank o0 £ &he
n.siuippt Mver just above the confluence of the Kas kamkia
giver, neal; opposite Ft. Kaskaskia. This fort becam e a per-
gsnent Setilwent. It was 8o completely French that B racken-
ridge, in i sutobliography, wrote that durégg his fir gt three
years thenle forgot how to speak English.

Thereis a possibility that the detailed study of each of
the Frenchiirts would produce considerable knowledge of French
sotivity iithe west,

Thecmtrol of the fur trade underwent a number of*
changes duig its long history. Monopoly of the fur traade |
passed rapidly from one hand to another until it reach ed Pierre¢
du Guast 111589, In 1604, under privilege of monopol-y e
seized a nmer of free vessels engaged in trade, thus producing
a great ouicty among the Norman and Breton merchants. D& Mont's
monopoly wswithdrawn in 1607 and renewed in 1609. F romm then
on for at last three years, until 1613, the trade of the 8t.
Lawrence wmsfree to the people of France and of the ¢ ol,en}.

In 1613, the Company of Rouen and 8t. Malo comm only
called Charlain’s Company was established. ﬁnder its privi-

69. Henry l. Brackenbridge, Recollections of Persons a.:nd Places
in thehkst, Lippincott, Philadelphia, 1868, 9
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g8 colonists were not allowed to trade with the Indians. 1In

5;‘1630, this company's charter was cancelled and & new company was
.,‘anized by Guillaume de Caen and his nephew Emery de Caen, mers
'eh.nts of Rouen., This company was known as the Montimorency don—
panye Their monopoly was cancelled 11,1623,

The company of New France, otherwise known as the One Hun-
dred Associates was established in April 1637 under Cardinal
pichelieu. All trade was forbidden Ox;;pt through the company
and all furs obtained by the colonists from the Indians had to
ve handed over to the company.

In 1640 the Company of Notre Dame of Montreal obtained
from the Company of New France the Northeastern portion of the
Island of Montreal and founded the city in 1643. From that time
the control of a portion of the fur trade passed to Montreal
which became the base for outfitting and departure of trading
expeditions. The Company of New France in 1645 agreed to transf:i
its trade monopoly to the inhabitants of the colony and the Com-
pany des Habitants was formed. It was this company which first
employed brandy as an artiocle of trade with the Indians.

The brandy question was in fact a troublesome one. "It
bulks large in every chronicle, every memoir, every relation and
in almost every official dispatch during a period of fifty years;
it set the officers of the church and state against each other;

and it provoked more friction throughout the western dominions
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70
of France than all other issues put together."

Everyone agreed that the liquor traffic was evil: It was
‘,nerally admitted that brandy did the Indians no good and that
i¢ would be better not to sell it to them. The traders feared,
powever, that if the Indians did not.gpt brandy from the French
they would sell their furs to the English for rum. The Jesuits
pissionaries fought liquor traffic among the Indians with all
their strength; yet they were unable tg'ntop 1t.11

In 1663 the powers and privileges of the Company of New
France passed to the King and Canada became a Royal Province
under the Sovereign Council.

The actual work of the trade required a variety of labor-
ers. "Those men whose names have been found in the annals of
the fur trade were the leaders, proprietors, partisans, and
clerks, Under them were the thousands of unknown men who perfor
med the actual tasks of trapping, tending camp, rowing oanooa;‘
poling keeleboats, skinning animsals, preparing the furs for ship-
ment to headquarters and making the longﬁgnd dgngoreus expedi-
tions to and from the distant trading poétn.'72

Chittenden has explained three methods generally used in

70. Munro, Crusaders of New France, 175

71. Ibid., 178 "Had the Jesuits done otherwise than fight it--
they would have been false to all the traditions of their
church and order. They were, when all is said and done, the
truest friends that North American Indians ever had."

73. Clarke, West in Americen Hjistory, 440
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spe fur trade. “The white man valued furs beyond what the Indian
oould comprehend and the latter was only too happy to find that
e could trade them for that gaudy and glittering wealth which
pad been brought to the west. Thus in the early intercourse of
the white man with the Indian, each gawve the other something -
ghich he valued lightly, and received in return something that
pe valued highly and each felt a keen contempt for the stupid
taste of the other.* ¢

Furs iore grouped into two classes, coarse and fine. The
coarse furs were buffalo, deer and bear skins. The fine ones
were beaver, the most popular, otter, mink and fox.

A second method was the one whereby the company regularly
employed huhters and trappers who gathered beaver and such other
furs as came their way. These men worked at fixed wages, and
the product of their labor belonged to the company. No goods
were transported into Indian ocountry for furs taken in thie wd;;
except in payment of the men's wages, which were generally absor
bed as fast as earned in‘new outfits and in liquor or feasting.

The third way waa‘in free hunting and trappimg. The
trapper here worked on his own account being bound to no company
and he generally sold his furs at some regular trading posi or
rendezvous. Ocoasionally he went to the city with his furs. A

large part of 'the payment for these furs if sold in the interior,

75. Hx M. Chittenden, The American Fur Trade in The Far West,
(Hiram) Harper, New York, 1902, I, 3
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4",, in the form of articles required for new outfits, and for
govacco and liquor. The free trapper worked only in the finer
ginds of fur.

In the organization of the fur trade, the most important
yndividual was the "bourgeois" who thé,manager of the post and
¢requently a partner in the tusiness. He hired the hunters,
supervised the trading, ordered the necessary goods and supplies
and set the prices. BSecond in command *was the *Partisan® who hai
charge of expeditions and held a rendezvous if there was no per-
ganent post in the vicinity. 1In each post there was also a
olerk who acted as secretary to the bourgeois. In addition to
the managerial staff, there was a‘small army of men who perfor-
med the heavy manual labor, Among these were the camp tenders,
the voyageurs who handled the boats, carpenters and blacksmiths.
Unskilled laborers were known as "mangeurs de lard,"

Until the Purchase of Loulsiana by the United States, tﬂ%
whole personnel of the fur trade was French, After 1803, Ameri-
can Fur Companies entered the fur trade and Chittenden claims
that under American control, four-fifths of the employees in the |

74
fur trade were Frenoch.

All fur traders were Catholics, One of the firet build-
ings erected in a new post was a chapel. Frequently the mis-
sionary did some of the actual constructing while the others of
the expedition hurriedly threw up stockades for protection

74, Ibid., I, 55, 56, 57
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.8.1nst surprise attacks by the Indians. They built the}r posts
a8 sturdily as materials would permit. Ft. St, Oharles‘on the
gest side of the Lake of the Woods, Minn., built by Verendrye in
1733, had four bastions, a watch tower, ochapel, storehouse, com-
sandant's residence and other dwellingg to shelter the fifty men
in his party. The whole was built of logs and surrounded by a
ten foot wall, Outside the stockade lay the great cances,
twenty=-four feet long, twenty~two 1nchdb deep which carried the
furs to Lake Suparior.vslear each fort was an area called a
f"Chantier.® It was a place where timber was abundant for
pickets, posts, canoes, mackinaws and other necessities. "Chan-
tier'meaning "shipyard" had survived in ome or two places: there
is Chantier Creek in South Dakota and Shonkin Creek a little be-
low Ft. Benton in lontanl.76

Journals were kept at the larger forts, From theae, we
learn something of the life in and about the trading posts. Dir
ing the American pericd, a Frenohman, Charles Larpenteur was
bourgeois for several different companies. His journal des-
cribes the following picturesque coursur. --*nothing took place
until a certain free trapper named Augustin Bourbonnais came
down the Missouri in & cance, As it was yet early, about ﬁhe
first of November (1836) his idea was to keep on to Ft. Clark
and winter there. But as he found many of his friends at Ft,

75. Robert Riegel, America Moves West, Dartmouth U., 1934, 32
76. Chittenden, The American Fur Trade in the West, I, 47
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] saion, he changed his plans and made up his mind to npee@ the
ginter at this place. He had been lucky on his hunt and had
gbout & pack of beaver worth something like $500 which made him
geel rich and quite able to pass a pleasant winter., Bourbonnas
gas only about 20 years of age, very_ hgndsome with long yellow
pair, 80 much admired by the female sex of this country. M.
pourbonnais had not been long in the fort before he went shopp-
ing and very soon was seen strolling aBout the fort in a fine
guit of clothes, as large as life, with his long (pah~ha-zee-
gee) hanging down over his shoulders; if he had look well in his
buckskins, he surely looked charming then.'77

Most picturesque of all were the "voyageurs" as the boat-
gen were ocalled. They were & happy=-go-lucky lot, patient and
long onduring,';nd fond of their joyous boat songs. .An English
trader named Long, setting out from Trois Rivieres for Mackinao
in 1777, described the diffioulty of river travel and the work™
of the boatmen. "The voyage from Trois Rivieres to La Chine is
tedious and troublesome as there is & strong current to combat,
Yhere the water is shallow, the cances must be forced with long
poles, while the boatmen wade knee-~deep and pull against the
current with ropes; this is labor and fatigue. Custom has, how-
ever made the Canadiana‘very expert, and I must do them the jus-
tice to say that they encounter these ditficﬁitieswith uncommon

cheerfulness, though sometimes they exclaim !C'est la misere,

77. © charlea Larpenteur, Forty Years & fur Trader, L&keaido‘?&el&
1933
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gon bourgeois!® From La Chine to Mackinac there are thirty-six
portages; the distance by land and water is about nine hundred
giles; in favorabl;eweather the journey is frequently performed
in about a month.*

In their methods of trading the,coureurs des bois were un-
1ike anything that the world had ever known before. Every sprim
if the trade routes to Montreal were reasonably free from Indian
gttaoks, they rounded up the western Ighiana with their stocks
of furs from the winter's hunt. Then, proceeding toc the grand
rendegvous at Mackinac or Greembay, the canoes were joined into
one great flotilla, and the whole array set off down the lakes
or by way of the Ottawa River to Montreal. After travelling
about a thousand miles of water, the flotilla reached the set-
tlement of Montreal about midsummer. Once at the village, the
Indians set up their tepees, boiled their kettles, and unpacked
their furs. The shop-keepers of the village displayed their
merchandise that had come from France on the Spring ships. There
were muskets, powder and lead, blankets in all colors, coarse
knives, hatchets, kettles, awls, needles, and other staples of
trade. And last but not least‘ in i1ts purchasing power was brandy.
Many hogshead of it were disposed of at every annual fair and
while it lasted the Indians turned bedlam loose in the town.79

The success of the fair in lMontreal meant everything to

78. ghwa%;es,*igrLz Western Travels, Clarke Co. Oleveland, 1004
I : , ’
79. Huﬁro, Crusaders of New France, 168
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1008l prosperify. In the years when there was trouble &pd the
fiotilla failed to reach Montreal, the whole settlement was on
the verge of bankruptcye.

What the Indians received for their furs depended upon
the fur market in France. And this gopetimes depended upon the
tashions of the time. At one time the fashion of wearing low-
crowned hats cut the value of beaver skins in two. Beaver was
the mainstay of the trade. Not all beé@er skins were valued
alike, however, Those taken from animals killed during the
winter were preferred to those taken at other seasons, while new
sking did not bring as high a price as those which the Indian
had worn for a time and thus made soft. When we read that half
million livres' worth of ékins changed owners at the Montreal
fair, this statement means that at least a hundred thousand ani-
mals must have been slaughtered to furnish such a large flo-
tilla with its cargo.ao -

Some buffalo hides were brought to Montreal, but in pro-
portion to their value, they were bulky and took up so much room
in the canoces that the Indians did not care to bring them. "The |
heyday of the buffalo trade came later with the development of
overland transportation.'alAt any rate the dependence of New
France upon the fur trade was complete.

The years just preceding the French and Indian War were

years of curruption in the government of Canada., Corruption was

80. Ibid., 170
81, Ibid., 170
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an o0ld storgapartioularly during the administration of Ehe Inten-
dant Bigot. Licenses to trade in the interior were issued by thd
government at 1ts discretion. The government also exarg%sed the
right to name the price of wheat and other commodities. ogzi~
ously the situation furnished the opportunity for plunder. The
route to the interior was difficult and exposed to accident.
fhe transport was by cance, and the rivers and lakes were often
stormy. "What was more simpls than to ‘sell, a keg of the king®s
whisky or a package of the king's goods to some trader on the
way and then to report that it had been thrown overboard to save
a canoe while croesing a stormy 1ake?'85

The independent merchants of Montreal acted each for him-
self, with slight regard for the interest of the trade, the In~
dians or the lesser amployeea.asrhe French court paid meager
salaries to its military and civil officers, and it was common
practice for these men to engage in trading Operafions 1nvordefi
to make a living.avsince the salaries were low and the supplies
inadequate, the men at the forts were often obliged to shift for
themselves. The pillage in conneotion with the posts and forts
wag 80 rich that positions of influence at these places came to

83. wrong, The Fall of Oanada, Oxford, 1914, Preface
83. Ibid., 8

84, Ibid., 85
85. Ibid., 95

86. Thwaites, Early Western Travels, II, 14
87, Wrong, The Fall of Canada, 8
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"319 appropriated by dishonest officials and sold for their own
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gometimes sold to them. Goods sent to the troops were also

gold. Furs bought with the king's money and worth great sums

penefit. The fur merchants in Montreed amassed large fortunes
a8 did their frieands who held monopolies on food supplies and
other commodities but their prosperity was not enjoyed by the
punble French trader back in the 1nter;§r. This was the condi-
tion of the western trade when the French and Indian war broke
out in 1754, |

War began when the French expelled the Ohio Oompany'from
jts post and later built Ft. anuesno.goThe English ministry con-
sldered the affair an encroachment on its territorial rights in
& place where the international boundary was undefined and pre-

21
pared to attack France in America. Not only did this war call

e
the French garrisons from their western posts, but traders were

unable to carry on trade because the forts that kept the trade
routes open were snxrendering to the English army.

The fighting stopped in Canada in 1760, but not all the
French posts in the west had surrendered. At many p%;cos on or

near the Great Lakes the flag of France atill waved. General

88, 1bid., 95 ,

89, Ibid., 95 o

90. Theodore C. Pease, United States, New York, 1927, 140
91. Ibid,, 140

3. Wrong, Fall of Canada, 2346
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. ssherst immediately sent nﬁjorggebert Rogers with two hg?dred
rangers to ocoupy these forts. Although Vaudreuil had written
grom Canada ordering the French Commandant to surrender their
posts to the English, F;; Chartres in southera Illinois was not
gurrendered until 1765. s
With the fall of Oanada in 17é6, and with the English com-
ing into control of trade and ocommerce, Frenchmen in the west

1o0oked for a new headquarters for the far trade.

93, 1bid,, 246
94, Ibid., 2346
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OHAPTER IV .
8T. LOUIS REPLACES MONTREAL A8 HEADQUARTERS
OF THE FUR TRADE
After the fall of Montreal in 1760, many officials of the

ganadian government were sent to Framos under arrest to answer
charges of mismanagement in Colonial affairs. Those Canadians
who had held no official connection with the government remained
for the most part wherever they happen;a to be at the end of the
ware At the end gg the French regime, the French population was

widely scattered, There were on%% about 80,000 Frenchmen from

the S8t, Lawrence to New Orleans.

In the Treaty of Peace signed by France and England in
February, 1763, England rac;lved‘all the land east of the Missis-
sippi River except that about New Orleano.van & secret treaty
with Spain just four months earlier, in November 1762, France hal
relinquished to Spain all claim to New Orleans and to the terr{:
tory west of the Mississippi River.gaznglich traders, therefore
were quite effectively kept out of the Mississippi River Valley,
because of Spanish control of the river,

English traders did not at first dare venture into the
wilderness inhabited by Indians faithful to the French, Those

89
who did nearly paid with their lives. For twenty years, until

85, Pease, United States, 137

86, Ibid., 13

87. Wrong, Fall of Canada, 354

98, COlark, West in American History, 105

99, Thwaites, Early Western Travels, II, 15
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1783, Englishmen tried by various means o engage in th: fur
g¢rade in the trans-Missisesippi west but without suecess.loghe
indians resented the change from French to English rule. A
well organized revolt of Indian tribes led by Pontiac in 1763
geized the newly acquired English pogty and was not subdued un-
til 1764, Pontiacts raids were 8o well timed and planned that
the English garrisons were taken completely by surprise and
nearly all massacred. Although the Inaians were subdued in
1764, it was not safe for an Eggiiehman to venture into the wes-
tern country until after 1770.

In the confusion following the cession of Canada and the
change of governments, the vast west explored and inhabited by
the French was neglected for a time. PFor twenty years after the
cession of Canada the inland trade was in the hands of private
adventurerl.lozFrench traders in the interior worked independent-
ly and marketed their furs wherever they could. It was a periﬁ&
of cut-throat competition., Montreal had lost its prestige for
the time being at least. Writing in 1777, the trader Long des-
¢ribed Montreal as having 'nothing‘reuarkable in 1t at present;
it was formerly famous for a great fair which lasted nearly
three months, and was resorted to by the Indians who came from
the distance of many miles to barter their peltry for English

103
goods, "

100, Wrong, Fall of Canada, 246

101. Voorhis, Higtoric Forts and Trading Posts, 18
103, Ibia., 18

103. Thwaites, Early Western Travels, II, 35
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If trade was dull in Canada after the French and Indian
§ar, it was thriving elsewhere. Out in the west, in th;Jlllio
pois country, in west Florida and all along the Mississippi River
there was to be found the persistent and effective competition
of the French traders who had removed 40 Spanish Louisiana.

The little town of 8t. Louls, faundod by Pierre LaClede
Linguest and August Chouteau in thelsinter of 1763-64, soon
gained ascendency in the fur trade. St. Louis was established
as the headquarters for the fur trade of the Missouri and Mis-
sissippi valley-.losIn December of 1763, Pierre La Clede Lin-
guest, known to historians as Pierre La Clede, and & half dozen
sturdy voyageurs were prospecting the country for the purpose of
selecting some point near the mouth of the Misasouri as a depot
for merchandise and finally decided upon the present site of the

106
city of 8t. Louis, La Clede was the manager for a company of
merchants who were organized in New Orleans. The plan was to ™~

establish a trading post for the control of the trade on the
Missouri and Mississippi Rivers.107

During its early history, 8t. Louis was known to traders
and to the Spanish Colonial government in New Orleans as, "St,
Louis des Illinois." Finkleburg in a note states, "Prior ?o

1796, 8t. Louis was in the western part of Illinois. After that

104, Olarke, West in American History, 116

105, J.N.Taylor and M.0.Crooks, Sketch Book of St. Louls,
St, Louls, 1858, 10
106, Ibid., 10
107. Henry Overstolz, The City of 8t. Louis, 8t. Louis 1880.10
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. 108
t¢ime the country was called Upper Louisiana. However, there is
-

evidenoe that *8t. Louis des Illinoié' was used as late as 1808.
In the Missouri Historical Society, among the fur trade documents
there is an autographed receipt given by Auguste Chouteau, ack-
nowledging the receipt of 1560 pounds.df deer skins that M. Grant
owed him, delivered to him by Jean Baptiste Le noigg. It is re-
corded as "8t. Louis des Illinois,* June 1, 1808,

La Olede was born in Bion, Franc:'near the base of the
Pyrenees mountains in 1734.110H10 importance in the development
of the Ameriocan west begins in New Orleans in 1762. In that
year, M. D'Abadie, Director General and Commandant of Louisiana
granted to a Company the exclusive trade with the savages of the
Missouri and all the nations residing weast of the Mississippi for
the term of eight years.llllAfter the terms and conditions were
signed with the French government, they took measures to import
from Europe all the merchandise necessary to sustain on a largo‘
scale their commerce, whioch they proposed to extend as much as

possible. While waiting for goods they formed a considerable

108, 1bid,, 10
109. Chouteau to Grant June 1, 1808, 8t. Louis des Illinois, Fur
Trade Mms., Missouri Historical Society Library, 8t. Louls
110. Elihu Shephard, Early Higtory of St. %ouis and Hissouri,
Southwestern Pub. Co., 8t. Louis, 1870, 33
11l. Auguste Chouteau, "Journal of the Founding of 8t, Lonis
"Missouri Historical Society Colleetion, 1II, 1908—1911, 349
note; Chouteau‘ts journal is the only source of information
as to details of the founding of 8t. Louis., The original
manuscript was given by Gabriel S. Chouteau, the youngest
son of the author to the St. Louis mercantile Library Ass'm
in 1857. The original has never been published. This
translation is by J. Given Browne and J. Wilber Stith.
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;?‘ﬂ“mwnt at the head of which was placed M. La Clede Lingueste."

La Clede and his party left New Orleans August 3, 1763.
pfter an upstream journey on the Mississippi, the expedition
arrived in Illinois three months later, in November, 17683. The
original plan was to stop in St. Genevdeve, but La Clede could
pnot find & house large enough to hold even one fourth of his
goods. The French commandant at Ft. CE?rtres, M. Neyon, invited
;s Clede to move his merchandise over to Illinois and winter at
that post. Chartres had not yet surrendered to England. The
invitation was accepted and, after seleoting the site for his
gsettlement on the west side of the Mississippi River, La Clede
settled down at Ft. Chartres to wait for spring.

Early in 1764 La Olede sent a couple of young men, his
son Pierre and his step-son Auguste Chouteau, to construoct
some buildings in the new settlement. They arrived at the place
February 15, 1764 and put up some tool shops and cattle sheds.‘
No public buildings or dwellings were erected until La Clede
arrived a month later in March. Auguste Chouteau had commenced
a market house which was to be the only one that the city had for|
about sixty yeara.llaLa Clede named the new post *St. Louis" in
honor of Louis XV of France whose subject he expected to remain
fpr & long time; he never imagined he was a subject of the King

114
of Spain. He built his store and house opposite the site of

112, 1bid., 350
113, James Joseph Conway, "Beginnings of Ecclesiastical Juris-

diction in 8t, Louis," M.H.S8.0., 1897, 4
114. Chouteau, Journal, 353
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the present Merchant®s Exchange of 8t. Louls. It remained one
of the best locations for business for many years., In his plan
for the settlement, La»clede dedicated the third bloock fro;l;he
river, one hundred yards square for a churoch and cemetary,

La Clede invited the Frenoch setilers of Illinois to come
to 8t. Louiﬁ. Several families accepted the invitation and pro-
ceeded to St. Louis where he aided them in settling. Lands were
assigned to them according to L& Olede?E plan.lleAfter the de-
parture of Neyon, the commandant in July 1764 and the emigratiocn
of its inhabitants to 8t. Louis, the village of Ft, de Chartres
remained totally deserted except for the garrison of the fort
and some government employees who also lived in the fort.117
Some of the houses had been d emolished by the owners who took
the boards, windows and door frames hnd everything else they
could transport, to the places where they intended to settle.

Important in the fur trade and in the development of th:'
early American west were the members of La Clede's family.

Marie Louise Chouteau La Clede, his wife, was born in New Or-
leans in 1733. At sixteen years of age she had married Auguste
Rene Chouteau and a year after her son ias born had left her
husband and made her home with friends. In 1757 she is reported

to have legally married La Clede. Of this marriage were born

115. Shephard, Bgrly History of St. Louls and Missouri, 11
116. Chouteau, Journal, 360

117. Ibid., 360
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Jean Plerre, %Zga, Victoire, 1760, Pelagie, 1762 and Hafie
gouise, 1764,  She left New Orleans with her husband ard chil-
| dren for Upper Louisiana in August of 1763. 6&he stopped with
per family at St. Genevieve, at Ft. Chartres and in March of
1764 she went to Cahokia. In Septembher she moved into her

gew house in 8t. Louis. After the death of La Clede in 1778,
Mme. Chouteau, as she was always called, carried on the fur
business on her own account and in the‘%hirty-six years she sur-
vived him, she accumulated a considerable estate. During her
whole life in 8t. Louis, exactly 50 years, she resided in the
same house and when she died at the age of eighty-one years she

left a small fortune in slaves, money, property and & large pro-
119
geny.

Probably the most important member of La Olede's family

after himself was his step-son Auguste Chouteau, "When he left

New Orleans with La Olede to come up the river, he was in his ~

thirteenth year, and when he led the party to begin the building
of St. Louis he was about thirteen and-a-half years. He seems
to have been La Cledets lisutenant and chief assistant and when
La Clede died in 1778, he administered his estate}%O In 1788 he
married Marie Therese, daughter of Gabriel Cerre. He graduvally
won for himself the position of chief man of business and ao-
Qquired the greatest wealth of any citigen of the upper Louisiana

country, He found great favor with the Americans upon the trans-

118, Fred.Billon, Annals of St. Louis in its Early Days, Jones
Co., 8t. Louis, 1886, 4123

o Abid., 41 1 =zze
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; 1., of the country. Hewas appointed presiding justice of the
girst territorial ocourt, and with Gov. Clark and Gov. m&;ardo of
A1111nois, commigsioner to treat in behalf of the United States
gith the Indians, In 1808 Chouteau became Colonel of the
yissouri Militia, and in 1809 was chalzman of the first board of
trustees of the town of St. Louis. He carried on an extensive
gercantile business, was president of the bank of Missouri, was
jnterested in lead mining and was a larbe land owner.

Chouteau as a fur trader and merchant contributed a great

| deal t0 the development of the American west. His interests
E were wide~spread and he maintained a small army of employees for
many years. Among his letters and accounts is evidence of great
net-work of enterprise of which 8t. Louis was the center. In
May 1787 he wrote to a Mr. William Grant, a Canadian merchant
asking him to sell his account to the best advantage two boat
loads of pelts that he had sent tc Mackinac and giving him full*
discretion in the disposal of the same. He also instructed
Grant to buy 2000 pounds of sugar for which he was to pay as
high as 35 soll.l31

Chouteau handled a tremendous volume of furs. On June 4,
1797, he wrote to Grant again. It is interesting that he used
the phrase, "S8t. Louis des Illinois.® This time he 1nforn;d

Grant that as there were no beaver skins coming in from the

upper Missouri, he was sending in their place eight hundred

131. Chouteau to Wm. Grant, May 8, 1787, Fur Trade Mms, II, 1886
-1924, Missouri Historical Society Library, 8t. Louis
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pounds weight of deer skins, and that being pressed for time, he
could not say how many skins were in the three packets but had

| gent them just as they had been received from the Indian traderm
in this letter he also mentioned the names of ae;gg&l traders he
wished Grant to make payments to on his account.

Further interesting information on the ramifications of
the fur trade is provided in the following letter. It was
written in the Ameriocan period June 24f'1808 at 8t. Louls. This
time Chouteau wrote to J. B, Tabeau, a nbrchant of Montreal, in-
forming him that all during that spring he had been unable to
find ococasion to send him the furs he had belonging to him
(Tabeau) and that he had determined to send them in two barges
to Chicagou and requesting him to pay the freight charges there
on eight packets of skins to Gellespie and Fortier of that
place, Chouteau's invoice for the freight on the goods from St.
Louis to Chicagou is enclosed with the statement that the good:'
would be sent on from Chicagou to Mackinac to the representa~
tives of the Fur Company by Mess. Kinsey and Forlyth.133

A study of the accounts of the Indian trade and Fur Com-
panies shows that Chouteau and other French merchants and
traders disposed of a large variety of merchandise. Bryan amd
Morrison were general merchants with warehouses in Cahokia and
in Kaskaskia. There is a receipt that on May 35, 1798 they re-

ceived of M. Chouteau by the hands of M. St. Cire, 1816} 1bs. of

133. Chouteau to Grant, June 4, 1797, Fur Trade Mms. II, Ibid,
133. Chouteau to Tabeau, June 34, 1808, Fur Trade Mms. II, Ibid.
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124
ghaved deer skins on account. In 1801 buffalo skins were

evidently worth twenty-five dollars. On the a;ggunt of Chouteau
with Bryan and Morrison are the following entries:

Oct. 15, 2 buffalo skins by Pascall Cirese..e..50,00

Oct. 239, 10 buffalo skins by Pierre Chouteau.,.350.00

After a long and active life,.Chouteau died in 8t. Louis,
Feb. 24, 1829, leaving his widow four sons and three daughters.

Pierre Chouteau was a half«brother of Auguste Chouteau,
He was born in New Orleans, Oct. 10, 1358. He came to 8t. Louis
in 1764 with Madame Chouteau and La Clede and other members of
the founding expedition. In 1833 he testified that he had been
among the Indians for thirty years, during which time he made
only short stays in 8t. Louis. In 1804, he was appointed by
| President Jefferson as Indian agent for the Osages, which posi-
tion he held for a long time., Some years later he retired from
active business and devoted himself to the care of his large
estate in and about 8t. Louis, He served for a time in the
Missouri militia in whioch he held the rank of hajor. He was
married twice, first to Pelagie Kiersereau and second to Brigite
gaucier. He had a large family of nine childron.l36

Pierre and Auguste Chouteau had received their early
training in the fur trade from La Clede during the years when

they had the Missouri Valley almost entirely to themselves, In

134. Receipt to A. Chouteau from Bryan, Morrison, May a5, 1798.
Indian Trade and Fur Qompanies Mms. V, Ibid,

135, Account of Chouteau with Bryan and Morrison, Oct. 1801
Indian Trade and Fur companies Mms., V, Ibid,

126, Chouteau, Journal, 2343
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;W177a La Olede died of fever while he was travelling down to New

| or1ean8, He ies said to have teen buried on the banks oflgge
giver just below its confluenoce with the Arkansas River. Upon

the death of La Olede, A. Choutesu had been in the employ of La

glede, Maxent and Oo.of New Orleans as»clerk of the house. With

the death of La Clede, Auguste Chouteau went down and spent the

winter of 1778-79 in New Orleans in adjusting the affairs of the

firm. When Chouteau returned to St. Lgais, he had the authority
to sell La Clede's property in order to settle the claims upon
the estate. It is interesting that the Chouteau family bought
up La Clede's 8t. Louis property instead of inheriting it. The
sale took place, authorized by the Spanish governor, July 4,
1779. The mill, and the surrounding ground on which it was builﬁ
was purchased by A. Chouteau for $400. The house and farm con-
taining negro cabins, barn, garden and yard were bought by Mme.
Chouteau for 3150.138 The Chouteau family and its large relatig;-
ship were well established in and about 8t. Louis. The story of
the founding of St.‘Lonis is part of the evidence of French
activity in the early American west.

One of the early heroes of St. Louls was its first oom-
mandant, St. Ange de Bellerive, Belleriveld been with Bourmont
at Ft, Orleans and therefore knew the Missouri Valley quite well,
He was in command of Ft. Chartres at the time of ite transfer to

Oapt. Sterling of the English forces in 1765. The forty French

Ié?. Shephard, Early History of 8t. Louis and Missouri, 33
138, Billon, Annals of St. Louis, 147
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;,ldieﬂ that had made up the garrison of Ft. Chartres were
f‘“,nsferr;dagto 8t. Louis and gave the new post infl uence and im-
ertance. Bellerive enjoyed the respect anl sf{ggtion of the
[sdians among whom was the Ottawa chief, Pontiac. By the unani-
| gous vote of the settlers, Bellerive:.#as made "Commandant Genera]
|42 8t. Louis with full power to grant lands s to do all acts
consistent with that office as though he held it by royal authom
14y, '131Beller1ve accepted the authorit‘y‘ conferred wapon him and
goted upon 1t with the full approbation of Awri, the Spanish
commandant General of New t)rlcmns.l33

In 1766, Bellerive, having organized his sys tem of govern-
ament, began making land grants and recorded them in <the "Livres
Terriens®. He hoped for retrocession of the country to France
at which time the titles would be 1egalizod.usrheac land books
were 8ix small books of ordinary foolscap paper, thxree quires
each, in which were entered very conecisely each land gram%:.54 -

The new colony soon gave evidence of thirift mnd stability
and encouraged some of the inhabitants of Illinois, who resented
English rule, to transfer their establishaments to the new settle-
ment at 8t. Louis, whose trade soon increased, The 1liberal land

grants attracted colonists from Canada and Lover Lowaisiana.,

139, Taylor and OToOkS, Sketch Book of St. Louls, 1S

130. Shephard, Early History of 8t. Louis and Missonari, 14
131. Ibido’ 14

132. Ibid., 14

133, Ibid., 15

134, Ibid., 13
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n The wealth to be won in the fur trade was more of an in-
_é.p,,gnt than the land concessions, Settlements were built |
jong the Missouri and Mississippi Rivers toserve as depots for
,,rchandise. In 1767, Vide Poche, or Carondelet was founded by
pelor Tregette. Florissant, called foz a time St. Ferdinand in
 [yonor of the Spanish King, was established in 1776, by Beauro-
gier Dunegant; and in 1769 Le Poti;sgaﬁ:, now 8t. Ghar}es was
established by Bianchette Chausseur. According to Pichardo 8t.
gharles was most important after 8t. Louls andi St. Genevieve,
spfter S¢. Louls and 8t%. Genevieve, the most important settle-
sent is San Carles. This small fortified tom located on the
jiissouri River three leagues from its mouth is a result of the
pigration of some families from 8t. Louis whose heads were
hunters by profession. They came tosettle there in arder to bde
nearer the oountry where hunting was most abundant.'136

In April of 1765, the Commandant General, 1%Abbadie, &t
New Orleans received orders from the French government to pro-
claim to the people the surrender of all the French possessions
west of the Mississippli River to Spain. 8Spain did not actually
assume authority in 8¢. Louis until 1770. Two years earlier, in

1768, Spanish troops had arrived in §t. Louis under the command

135, Taylor and Crook 13
138, Habkett, Pichardols ITRIED on raitrat¥i®t s Poutstana and
Texas, II, 2 ,
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ii;f gen. Rios, They made no demonstration against the aepinistra-
;stion of Bellerive, and after spending a quiet winter in ?;;
pouis they withdrew to New Orleans the following summer.

That same year, 1769, the peopls of 8t. Louis entertained
tpe famous Indian chief, Pontiac. Hq had come to visit his old
griend Bellerive. Pontiac's conspiracy, to drive and confine
the English east of the Alleghany Mountains had failed in 1765.
gis French allies had deserted him; and his best friends had
urged him to bury the tomahawk. His defeat caused the o0ld chief
to brood. He was 8till the demigod of the western‘lndiana, How-
ever, and there was a good bit of glory about Pontiac's name.
Bellerive gave him a cordial reception corresponding to his
former high position and he was entertained by many of the town's
leading residents among whom was Mme. Ghouteau.lssno was still
the "lion" that attracted all eyes toward him as he returned
across the river to visit some French friends in Oshokia, Upon™
this occasion he is said to have worn the complete Lieutenant's
wniform which he received from the unfortunate Montcalm at Que-
bec. 8Soon after he reached the Illinois side of the river, Pon-|
tia& was tomahawked by a Kaskaskia Indian who had been bribed by
an English trader. His body was brought to 8t. Leuis under
orders of Bellerive and buried with all {the honors of war,

With the arrival in New Orleans of Don Alexander O'Reilly,
the new Commandant General of Louisiana, with three thousand men

137. Shephard, Early History of 8t, Louis and Missouri, 16
138, Ibid., 17
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enforce Spanish rule, no time was lost in bringing 8t. Louis
;,r Spanish control. OfReilly dispatched Lieut. Piernas to
f;,. pouis in 1770, to whom Bellerive quickly %gga over command,
apd was made captain in the service of Spain.

1 The location of 8t. Louis in zégards to the fur trade

: spallenged the Inglish from the north, In May 1780, an English
' sttack was launched from MOhilimckingc and other northern
f',ointe aimed at th:éeoovory of the Ilﬁnoil trade and the cap-
| |gure of 8t. Louis. The English force included four French Qana<¢
‘ d1ans, who had been in the employ of the fur trade as oonduo-
 {¢ors. They were Ducharme, Quennelle, Calvi, and Langdon.
| | Frenchmen were always to be found in the early parties in the

| vilderness, Indians made up most bf the rest of the party.

Then they appeared before the little village the tomspeopiza?ut
i |[up such a stout defense that the attacking party withdrew.

The English traders were dissatisfied with their hunting
grounds. "Late in January, 1783, the London Chronicle reported
that a committee of merchants engaged in the Oanadian fur trade
just waited upon Lord Shelburne. !'They stated! the report con-
finues, *that his Majesty's Ministers might as well have thrown
 |canada into the number of sacrifices which had been made for the
 |purpose of peace, sinoce they had given up all the advantages and
|value of Canada., Not a single fur oould be brought to the Brit-
| TR TeIa 18 '
140, Clark, West in American History, 158
141, 8hephar3',__—_—_—___—_g arly History of 8t. Louis and Missouri, 34
142. Clark, West in American History, 163
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f;,.h parket in Quebec without the permission of the govefn::; of
jtth, American forts on the lakes and in the back country."®

The arrival in 8t. Louis of ten barges from New Orleans
4n 1788 has been called "The Year of the Ten Boats" (ltaznee des
dix bateaux). The cargoes consiated‘é? guns, ammunition, and
provisions of all kinds for exchange in the fur trade. IXarly
g¢ransportation on the Mississippi Rivor‘ was s8low and tedious,
pinety days being required to make the journey from New Orleans
to 8t. Léuis. When trading parties returned, the streets of 8t.
Louis were thronged with voyageurs, of all ages and complexions.
They were a source of constant trouble to & weak and inefficient
police with whom they delighted to "kick up & row.%44A1tﬁough
gtean navigatidn on the riveré ias to put many of these boatmen
out of work, the French voyageurs were still in demand as late
as 1850 on the Yellowstone and upper ﬁinsouri Rivers.145 -

The merchants of 8t. Louis enjoyed two markets, one at
New Orleans and, after 1783, the other in COanada. The furs from
the great west came to 8t. Louis to be sorted and packed into
bundles and shipped out of the country. Up from New Orleans
came imported objects from France and elsewhere. Fine textiles,
wines, hats, food products, furniture, mirrors and articles of
gold and silver were among cargoes that reached 8t. Louis from
time to time. In 1766, furs and peliries were used as currency.
1437 Tvid., 163

144, shephard, Early Hjstory of St. Louis and Missouri, 31
145, Larpenteur, Forty Years a Fur Trader, 319
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’iﬂ’n 4oday, St. Lo:i; is known as the largest primary nfrket for
| jgorican raw furs.
R In 1800, Louisiana was returned to France. There was no
| |gttempt on the part of the French government to assert French
E‘ rale. In 1803 the United States bought Louisiana from Franoe.
.It ijs usually supposed that at the moment of the Loulsiana Pur-
chase the entire French population of the Missouri and Mississi-
ppi Valleys became Americanized immedi#tely or completely dis-
sppeared from the country. The wealthy merchants, when they
jearned that it was to their advantage to be friendly with the
Americens, learned English. *But the majority of the population
simple peasants, miners, trappers, hunters, had seen changes of
government before, had been trained to expect little interfer-
ence from the law, therefore did not or could not alter theme
gelves with such deft speed. They remained French peasants and
remain so today, in greater numbers probébly than at the time of
the Purchaue.'147 '

8t. Louis had about nine thousand population, including
adjacent districts. The growth of the city's population waa‘
slow until after the war of 1813. When Captain Stoddard, acting

for the Frenoh government formally transferred 8t. Louis to the
United States, the city by way of celebration floated three
flags; the French, the Spanish and the American, the latter have

ing at that time seventeen stars.

146, World Book Ency. X, 6318
147, Ward Allison Dorrance, The Survival of French in the 0ld
District of 8t. Genevieve, U. of Mo., 1835, 7
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\f{‘ parrier between Canada and the Mississippi River. Also, the
nigsissippi was & better outlet for the produce of the £;11noia
yillages than was the Great Lakes route.' By the middle of the
eighteenth century, the cluster of villages in southern Illinois,
shile maintaining some fur trade, had, hecoms noted as the ohief

150
sgricultural community in the French mainland possessions.

Quantities of produce were taken eastward to Detroit but especi-
ally southward to the settlements along*the lower Mississippi and
% to the French West Indies.lsl

| Another reason that caused the new settlements to turn to
agriculture ias the depression in the fur market. Toward the
end of the seventeenth century there occurred & slump in the
beaver trade ;n Canada and it never quite regained its former
1nportance.1521he market was overburdened with furs and the
-|French colonies turned to farming and manufacturing. Intendant
Champigny writing to the French Minister, May 36, 1696 deplored”
the superabundance of beaver skins. "There are four million
livres' worth of them; and they cannot all be disposed of in ten
years;---we must examine the pfoposal to establish manuraotuxigi
It was then that the beaver furs began to be classified accord-
ing to quality and to have set prices.

The Illinois posts and missione, in addition to their owmn

150, Ibid., 103
151, Ibid., 104
152. Patrick J. Lomasney, "The Oanadian Jesulits and the Fur Trad*'

‘Yid-America, XV, 332
153. Ibid., 3233




ymportance, were starting poin# for expeditions to the wgst.
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In March 1699, the Mission of s Holy Family of the Tama.roiaé‘
the future Cahokia was built bythe Seminary priests ofQuebec.
In fact, the Seminary fathers hi received a grant of land for
the Tamaroa Mission &s & base Ir the entire Missouri Valley%ss
In Paris in 1700, the superior if the Society of Foreign Mise
gions insisted on the Tamaroa pit as a useful base for contact
rwith the Missions of the Missari and tht Aksas (Kansas?) which
we prefer to others as being fathest from the French and con-
sequently promising more isnefruit although the expenses of the
game will be much greater." Her is an expression, in addition
to the Mission plen, of the attiude of the Missionary toward
his countrymen engaged in westen trade enterprises. In the
Illinois settlements‘, during thiearly eighteenth century, there
were soldiers, traders and mine:n in addition to a large number
of transients, who often hinder{ the work of the missionaries.
Concerning plans for Mismri Missions, Father Bergier
wrote, in 1703, "The two princijl missions which I would like
to take in hand, if there were in and money, are the Cancez and
the Panimaha along the River Miiouri. 'lsvThe Jesuit Father Limo-
ges, in 1700 expressed to Fathe:3t., Cosme, his desire to plamt

158
the cross among the tribes of th Missouri, especially the Osage.

154, Garraghan, Chepters in Froller History, 60
165, Ibid., 61
156, Ibid., 61
157, Ibid., 61
158, Ibid., 60
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i In the last decade of the seventeenth century, relations
E?"r, established between the Jesuit Mission at xaskaski; and
/',o.c of the Indian tribes west of the Missisasippi River. In May
1593, a party made up of two French traders and some Kaskaskia
indians visited the Missouri and Osage tribes to cement an alli-
snos. - The traders returned to Easkaskis in June 1693 acoompan-

jed by two chiefs, one from each village and some elders and
188

Another missionary record that mentions a coureur de bois
is that of Father Marest, S8.J. From his Kaskaskia mission on
the Illinois he dispatched to Iber ville, founder of Biloxi and
Nobile, all the information he was able to gather about the Mis-
souri Valley. "Our warriors have brought us horses and bridles,
which theée nations took from the Spaniards, and Rouensa at pres-
ent has one of them. However, it seems to me it was La Chenais
who came from that country with the Indians, that made him a
present of this horse.® The La Chenais (Chenaye) mentioned by
Father Marest is apparently the coureur de bois who lived for
some time with the Iowa Indians in the last part of the seven-

163
teenth centurye.

While traders were trying to make fortunes and estqplish
France in the trans-Mississippl west, missionaries were working
equally hard to convert the Indians. Thgoretioally, the traders
and missionaries being countrymen, should have had much in ocom-

mon. However, though they were often found together, there was

/

IEET—GarraghEg, Ohapters in Frontier History, 57
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probably more friction than co-operation between them. Accord-
ing to many missionaries' records, the influence of th;rrrench
traders with the Indians greatly hindered the work of the mis-
gionaries,

During the first part of the eighteenth centuiy, the fur
trade was monopolized by a few friends of the officials of the
Canadian governmcnt.164consequently, there were many traders who
were engaged in the trade without permilsion or licenses. It
was & time of lawlessness and boot-legging in the fur trade.
From time to time the Canadian government tried to remedy the
situation or to control the illicit trade in furs.lssln 1681,
the plan was set up of giving out twenty-five licenses to
traders, and each licensed trader was to send out twenty-five
canoes, with three men to a canoe. The plan, unsuccessful, was
revoked in 1696, restored in 1716, again revoked in 1719 and

166
once more restored in 1726,

The fur trade, while it was a source of wealth to French-
men in America, was a great worry to the Church and government.
Coureur de bois caused most of the trouble. They were the young
men of Canada who ranged the woods trapping or‘trading; Some
carried their own merchandise to the Indians while others !ent

to the woods as buying merchants or their agents. They led idle,

164, Wrong, The Fall of Canada, 89

165, Jesuit Relations and Allied Documents, Thwaites, ed.
Burrows Oo. Cleveiand, 1901, LXV, 272

168, Ibid., LXV, 372
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;wdi"ipatgd lives., They even shocked the Ingé:ns, and tgpir
| gxample undid the work of the missionaries.

The French Intendant, Jean Talon, in 1670, tried to check
these vagabonds. The ordinance of 1673 forbade any habitant, on
pain of death, to abandon their homeg or to wander from them into
the woods for more than twenty-four hours without permission of
the Governor General. In 1673, Frontenac had issued an edict
forbidding the sale of merchandise to ﬁhe coureurs de bois or
the purchase of furs from then.lsarhia edict was not enforoed.
It was suspected of Frontenac that he also was secretly engaged
in 11licit fur trading.

The coureurs de bois sometimes served as intermediaries
and interpreters between the Indians and the French., However,
by continually hunting and fishing in the midst of the savages
they became attached to their way of life. They took to hunting
and trading for their own profit and they came less often to the
Canadian settlements, except to sell their stock of pelts in the
annual fairs and‘to find new recruits among their ocountrymen.
Naturally, they sought out the Indian villages and the French
migaions.

Seeking to restore the trading licenses as a remedy for
illicit trade, the Intendant in 1710 wrote that the coureurs
were not accustomed to till the soil and could not therefore be

driven to it by any punishment. "They are useful in Canada for

167. Lemasney, Relations Between Church and State in New France,
Doctoral Disgsertation presented at 8t. Louis U., 1933, 267
168, Ibid., 374
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the fur trade. If articles o tradeis pnot sentyrxat to Michilimack-
inac, the savages will get thm fromi English..iX2. '169 :

When trading licenses rre laMi, they wewvwwere frequently
jssued to Commandants at the nstermpits, who # in turn employed
s number of ocoureurs de bois i go oy tng ‘jrade *e with the In-
dians. Such licenses were kmm as yies, The € military
officers and traders who carrd g_ggggg“u‘“pgpowered to arrest
and pillage any coureurs foun tradiyijlefally v and to fire on
them 1if they resisted. The liensedirder was py Ppermitted to
trade liquor with the Indiansbtut hemy not permrx=mitted to start
out with more than ten jugs o brandy.”o;[n actusim—al practice the
military officers, with and without litnges, empmmmployed as many
coureurs as they wished regariess oltle gpecifgtffications of the
law. They sheltered those wh had disrted the @ 8Settlements for
purposes of trade. They founimany ws to circwocsumvent the
liquor restrictions. They emloyed iy means posocossible to get -
furs from the Indians. |

It was not long beforethe miuiinaries, & Stationed at or

near the trading posts, such # Michilinackinac @ ~or Beauharnois

should complain to Montreal o the encitation o ©f the Indians
by French traders, and of thegeneralnigconduct #t= of the white
men. There 18 & letter writin by Filey Carheixi.l from llacllinao
in August, 1702. In it he reprts, ' ig evidem===nt that the

garrigons are of no use to thisavagy either wi#®#&_-thin or without

169, 1bid., 284
370, 1Ibid., 382

he—
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:§;h°1r villages; th:¥lare entirely useless for their prggervation‘
1 or their defense.*

Father Carheil took up the cause of the legitimate trader
gs sgainst the unlicensed ones. "Now, if they (unlicensed) be
aseless to the savages, they are sti]), more so to the voyageurs
who obtain permission to come up here to trade, and who alone
sre entitled to do 8o, to the exclusion of all others who have
po Tight to do it--and who cannot tradg without doing the voya-
geurs an injustice. And yet such is the sole occupation of all
the garrisons; such is their unique emplpyncnta-ihich is not
only unnecessary for the voyageurs, but is exceedingly hurtful
to them, and does them damage to the extent of :il the beaver
skins and other furs that the soldiers collect. 178

Evidently, the missionaries and the licensed traders got
along in agreement, at least until the military took a hand in
the fur trade. "Before there were any commandants here, the
missionaries were always listened to by the traders because they
(traders) were afraid to give them (missionaries) any grounde
for complaint, thereby losing permission to trade.%73As long as
it was profitable to them in trade, the officers shielded and
worked hand-in-hand with the unlawful coureurs, But, *if on
some occasions, the commandants are obliged to do something oon~

trary tq}the usual freedom of -the voyageurs'! trade then those

1713“Jesuit Relations, LXV, 313
178. Ibid., LXV, 213
173. Ibid., LXV, 301
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;”Offioers dilplaylg4certain cleverness of which we yould‘never

ﬂ pave guspected. " The cleverness referred to consisted in plao-
ing the blame upon the missionaries,

When the missionaries objected to traders and their
gethods, they were frequently chargeq yith t he desire to have
tbe whole fur trade and its profits to themselves. "Nearly
every cance, even those of the Jesuit priests, going to the in-
terior carried goods for exchange with ‘fhe natives, and the
charge was often repeated that the Jesults engaged in trade.
They took to their stations goods with which not only to buy
supplies for their own living, but also to furanish things to the
natives, and inevitably they received furs in payment which were
almost the currency of the country. It was customary for the
miesionaries in some way to dispose of these furs. Since the
Jesuits aimed to shut out the unsocrupulous traders from the
posts, it was an easy task to accuse them of acquiring the fur™
profits for thenselvcs.175

When the king asked the procurator of the Canadian Jesu-
its why those fathers had abandoned their mission at Miohili-
mackinao, he was told that their principal motive was to prevent
the debauchery of their neophytés by Frenchmen who went to trade
in the depths of the forests.lveknong the useful and fantastioc
articles of European trade that the Indians received for their

174, Ibid., LXV, 203
175. Lomasney, "Canadian Jesuits and the Fur Trade," Mid-America

XV, 150; Note from Wrong, Rise and Fall of New France, 1,44
176. Lzosxasney, Relations Between Church and State in New France,
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| furs, the favorite was brandy. Liquor made so much trog?le that
ghe missionaries and others concerned with the welfare of the

french settlements did all that they could to control or abolish
ijt. Father Lafitau, missionary of the Iroquois of Sault St.
pouis wrote in October, 1718, "In the permits to be given for
this last time forbid the taking of any brandy even for the voy-
ageurs® uae.'177

There are many accounts of the d%mornlizing influence of
certain traders, and little good can be found on record concern-
ing any of the coureurs de bois. However, there are a few in-
stances where missionaries and traders did co-operate in found-
ing and in maintaining settlements. One of these was kaown as
Des Peres village built on the site of present St. Louis. Con-
cerning the founding of Des Peres, it is recorded in Father
Bergier's correspondence that in 1700, the Kaskaskia Indians
left their village near modern Peoria and moved down the I11inéls
River and found a new home on the west bank of the Mississippi
River at the mouth of the Des Peres River. A fort was built and
many residents of the Tamaroa Mission hastened over to join the
new Frenoh aettlenant.lvsnare at Des Peres the historic Kaskas-
kis migssion was maintained, the Indians and French sharing the
ministrations of the Jesuit fathers. Father Marest, the mis-

sionary,to the Kaskaskia Indians resumed his work as pastor of

1777 Jesult Relations, LAVII, 47
178. Garraghan, Chapters in Frontier History, 78
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the new settlement and except for a missionary visit or two to
peoria, remained with them until the abandonment of Des‘}eres.

Father Borie, who had joined Father Marest at Des Peres
set out in the summer of 1701 on a missionary journey to the
gioux of the Upper Mississippi. Father Borie's canoe was
wrecked about fifty miles above the settlement and he returned
to the settlement without again attempting to reach the Sioux,
Father Marest also palnned to travel tc*the Sioux country but
nothing came of his plans.

The two pastors of Des Peres, Father Pinet and Marest are
among the interesting in that period of Missisaippi Valley his-

tory known as the Frenoh occupation. Father Gabriel Marest be-

gan his missionary career in the Hudson Bay region whgre he was
17

| taken prisoner by the English and taken to England. On his

release from Plymouth at the conclusion of the treaty between
France and England, he returned to the new world where he spent’
the rest of his 1life among the Kaskaskia Indians. He was with
them at their three successive settlements; first on the Illi-
nois, second on the Des Peres and third on the Kaskaskia River,
To this last home of theirs he accompanied them in the spring of
1703, the date of the passing of the French and Indian set?le-
ment at Des Peres. With the migration of the Indians and their

pastor further south, the French settlers also apparently moved

179, William 1. Kip, Historical Scenes From ihe 0ld Jesuit
Mi{ssions, Randolph, N.Y. 1875, 335




in a short time every trace of settlement had dis- |

. and
s’ " 180 j

E;ppeared.

; Father Pinet had incurred the displeasure of Oadillac by
f‘.nounoing from the pulpit at Mackinac the prevailing traffic in
fliquor and the resulting ruin to his Indian flock. At Chicago,
|,696-1701, Father Pinet had conducted the mission of the Guard-
 |jan Angel for the Miami Indian. At Cahokia, his chapel was

f tgaxed beyond capacity by the number of patives that attended the
; gervice. On the testimony of his successor at that post, Father

z g.rgiér, he spoke the Indian language perfectly and even better
 |than the Indians themselves., Father Pinet died at the Des Peres

j village, August 11, 1703, the funeral service being conducted by

| Father Bergier. It was the first death and burial recorded on
< 181
 |¥issouri soil.

As Ohaplain with Bourgmond at Ft. Orleans was Father Jean
Baptiste Mercier, a Seminary missionary. He had come down from
tanada in 1718, being stationed at Oahokia until he accompanisd
Bourgmond up the Missouri in 1733. In his five years at Cahokia,
Father Mercier had learned the Illinois language and served as
1nterpreter’dur1ng a dispuxe between the French and Indians at
rt. Orleann.lazW1th'the commandant Bourgmond, Father Mercier made
& number of journeys up and down the Missouri River where he madﬁ
8 considerable impression upon the Indians. Evidently in this
6ase the soldier and the missionary were able to work well to-

| |gether,

rraghan, Chapters in Frontier History, 89
| 181, Ibid., 83
183. Tbid., 68
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The order for the abandonment of tilrt, issued at . the
paris headquarters of the Company of the liig, Oct. 237, 1737,
gpecified that "a missionary was to be leftiere if he thinks
gpat he can make angagrogress in the preaiy of the gospel
gmong the Indians," and a salary was<tolssured him.
yather Mercier, however, retired from theiti with the French
ggrrison or possibly earlier, resuming hin& of resident mis-~

®
sionary at Cahokia.

183, ibid., 66
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CHAPTIR VI |
LATER FRENCH ACTIVITY IN THE MISSOURI VALLEY

There is not much information in any published account of

¢he government of upper Louisiana under the Frenéh and Spanish
regimes. There were laws but few of the public officers except
those attached to New Orleans were acquainted with thep. None
were ever published. However, there is no evidence that the
French colonials, under their own or thd Spanish administrations
weré not completely happy.184xeeping peace among the Indians and
regulating the fur trade seem to have been the chief duties of
the government during the years 1764«1804.

At 8t. Louis during the days of the Spanish rule there
wvere companies trading under trade grants from the governor of
Louisiana. Maxent-La Clede was one of these., After the death
of La Clede in 1778, the company was dissolved and others took
its place. Down to the time of the cession, 1804, there had ™
been several of these associations and the trade extended well
up the Missourl River. Charles LaRaye, in his Journal mentions
that he camped at the mouth of the Jaun River in 1802.18516ne of
these earlier companies ever attained any extensive success, at
least not when compared with the later and larger companieq.

Fur trade, or the Indian trade, as it was called in the

correspondence of the time, was carried on by small associations

184, Dorrance, Survival of Frenoh in the 0ld District of St.

Genevieve, 239
185. "Journal of Charles LaRaye," BSXXTAXXEisXxCoii. 1908, IV,150|

South Dakota Historical Collection
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or by independent traders. The personnel, from the head of the
company to the lowest employee in the field was French.“One of
the most interesting accounts of trading activities in the upper
yissourl Valley is that of Jean Baptiste Trudeau, in 1795.186He
pa8 very definite in writing down hig instruotions. "As for my-
gelf, my orders being to maintain very high prices on merchan-
dise-~though I see with much regret so many fine skins being
taken out of our territory to strangeréh I cannot without a new
order from the company better the price." Trudeau criticized
the work of the two agents who had preceded him among the Paw-
nees. He found that the Indians did not attach much value to
the merchandise of the traders. When they sold food to the
Frenchmen, they exacted a separate price for each item in the
meal; when the soup was paild for they brought corn; when that
was paid for they brought meat, and so on. Trudeau set about to
discontinue "this pernicious habit of his predecessors." He com-
plained further about the method of Deglisse and Garault, the
agents he was succeeding. They had not attracted other Indian

tribes to trade, "had not tried to maintain union and harmony

to hunt beaver and other good furs, "Being too much bent upon the

trading of robes, leggings, mocecasinse, cow hides, and parchment

186. "Journal of Jean Baptiste Trudeau on the Upper Missouri®
Paert II, trans. by Mrs. Beauregard, M.H.S.C. IV. 21-48
(also Mms. 14 S8t. Louis) -

Part I, Roscoe Hill, ed., M.H.8.C. 1914, Newberry Libyary.

between the Ricaras and their allies.® They had not induced them
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187
ghich sufficed to meet their needs."

There is a little information concerning Degliss;‘and
Garrault. It explains something of the life of those many
frenchmen who occupied the west but w?genever amassed fortunes
or became famous. According to Doug%gg, Jaques d'Eglise was the
first person to reach the Mandans from St. Louis by way of the
yissouri. In August, 1790 he obtained a permit from Manuel
perez, the Lieut. Gov. at 8t. Louis to o hunting on the Missourj
rrade with all known Indians had been prohibited. Eglise made
his way up the Missouri until he encountered the Mandans. He
returned to 8t. Louis in October 1792 and the following year set
out on a second voyage, taking with him probably as partner,
Joseph Garreau. This journey was not & success. The Arikara
Indians would not allow them to pass further up the river. Gar-
reau, whose "egpiritu turbulento)/livertino' did mueh to ruin
the enterprise, preferred to remain with the Indians rather tham
face his creditors in 8t. Louis.

Trudeau's instructions in 1784 referred to these traders
a8 having injured the Mahas Indians in passing their village and
enjoined him to stop them from trading if he found them among
the Mandans., Trudeau's journal mentions the departure of Eglise
from the village of the Arikaras for 8t. Louis, May 24, 17é5.

In July of 1765 after Carondelet had offered a reiard of $3,000
to the first person who should reach the Pacifio Ocean overland,

187. Ibid., II, 8
l88. w. B. Douglas, "Traders, " M.H.S.G, 1914, 300
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t¢pe Lieut. Gov. Zenon Trudeau wrote of Eglise that he planned to
jeave in a few days "full of spirit and ambition® with ¥he in-
gention € crossing the Rocky mouﬁtains to the sea. Under the
pame of Santlago d'Eglise he is Sspoken of in 1804 as still
occupled with trading on the upper ngggpuri. In official Spanish
documents his name is also found in the forms of Santiago de la
Iglesia and Jacobo L'Igliase.l89

Trudeau had left St. Louis in th® summer of 1795, but had
been detained among the Pawnees who were along the Missouri River
then. He wrote that he remained there on the Missouri while the
others went off to hunt beaver, "as much to preserve peace and
union between these nations as to prevent their attacking those
(Frenchmen}) who wander over the western shores of this river,
and they are many.'lgoLater in his journal, Trudeau referred to
"our young Canadians and Creoles who come here and are seen
everywhere running at full speed like escaped horses into the ~
ccuntry.'lgl

The term, "Creole" as used by Dorrance, who takes it from
Webster's Unabridged Dicfionary, is a white person descended
from French or Spanish settlers of Louisiana and the Gulf States.
The descendants of the French in Missouri, though for the @ost

part of Canadian origin, were geographically and politically

189. ibid,, 300
190, Trudeau Journal, II, 1
191. Ibid., 2
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screcles” in this sense.

Trudeau himself was a Canadian. He was born in é;nada in
1748 and arrived in St. Louis by way of New Orleans in 1774. He
pecame the first school méster in the new town of 8t. Louis,
where he taught until 1831. In 1789, Gov. Zenon Trudeau gave &
present of $400 to the children of Jean Baptiste Trudesu in
gratituggsfor teaching the Governor!s children and for other
favors. This was four years after the*school teacher's expedi-
tion on the upper Missouri.

Trudeau wrote that he found the Arikara Indians to be
gentle., "He who is not satisfied with what is given him in ex-
change for his furs carries them back again without murmur or
threat."le4Frenchmen who had preceded Trudeau among this tribe
had described them differently. Trudeau expressed the idea that
his countrimen had been giving bad example to the Indians and
that they had been paid back in kind, #"Giving bad example be- <
fore the young is a fault much too common &mong the French.'lg5
He added that the Indians who had made no contact with the white
men were morally better than others.

The country south and west of the Platte River, and

around the south branch had not bean hunted. It was believed to

1592, Dorrance, ?he Survival of F French, 7
193. Douglas, Ima. ketch of J, B, Trudeau in Trudeau Papers,
8t. Louis. Hill has the same information
in his publiehed introduction to Part I of the Journal.
194, Trudeau Journal, II, 5
195, Ibid., II, 6
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gbound in beaver and otter. Trudeau believed that the, Indians
|4n that country hed had no comm:gge with the Frenoh and would
sherefore be easy to deal with. He suggested that merchandise
pe taken to them in flat cances made of buffalo skins, "such as
gre used on the Platte River.® It weuld be an impossibility, he
grote, to attempt to have them come by way of the Missouri River
to the place whére the merchandise depots are eetablished.lgarhe
pames or locations of the depots are n;¥ mentioned, dbut the 8iax
Indians are given as the reason why the other tribes would not
venture near the trading posts. "The Sioux," he wrote, "are
feared and dreaded by all these others on account of the fire
arms with which they are always well provided.lggTho Sioux have
been referred to as the highest type of North American Indiana
in intelligence and courage. Today there are about 32,000 most
of whom live in the Black Hills of South Dakota. During the
French occupation they occupied the region from the Arkansas -
River to the western tributary of Lake Winnipeg and from the
Mississippi River to the Rocky Mountains. In the war of 18123
they aided the English. When Trudeau was on the upper Missouri,
the English fur traders were working westward from Lake Superior
McKenzie had recently, 1793, discovered and explored the Colunbij
River. The Indians along the upper Missouri found their furs

188, 1pbid., 11, 13
197, Ibid., II, 13
198, Ibid., II, 13
189, Ibid., II, 3
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f | ought Dy the French and English alike. The main tribe of the
{"510“1 traded largely with the English and in his journsl Trudeau
observed that the Sioux hunted beaver, "which they take away %o
other Sioux who frequent the St. Plerre River sud that neighbor-
pood. " ‘ PR

As to the price of furs he wrote, "The high price held
pere on merchandise is more than anything else, the messure of
powder which one will give them for each beaver, which until now
has been only ten louis for each bundle and some trifle; NOW th‘ﬂ
would exact two hands full for each beaver and otter pack, gg?er“
wise they would never consent to trade their furs with us.® In
addition to the high prices which had to be paid for furs,
Trudeau felt handicapped in the small number of men he bad with
him. He had been ordered that any plans should be carried out
without expemse or coat according to instructions, that he 3h°“1£
keep only a few men with him and send back the others. He com~"
plained bitterly and with sarcasm that two men were not enough g
go to the four points of the compass to get trade.zog

Many mishaps added to the hazards of early French traders
in the west. While Trudeau was living with the Arikara Indians
several horses were stolen, presumably by Mandan Indians. The
Journal gives every step that was taken in order to recover them.
On June 17, 1796, three Arikara Indians set out t o the Mandan

T ———————

300, Ibid,., II, 13
201. Ibid., II, 14
203. Ibid., II, 15
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gillage to get them. They returned the next day frighfened by a
gar party of Sioux. On June 24th, Trudeau sent two Frenchmen,
qQuebec and Charette to get the horses. Three days later they
glso returned without the horses saying that they had seen a
party of Sioux and would go no furthes. It seemed imperative
that those horses be returned so again on July 3nd six Arikara
Indians set out for the Mandan village. This time Trudeau sent

g3 letter by them to Menard and Jussauﬁ: who were living among

the Mandans. The journsl records the contents of the letters asi
follows, *I impressed thém with the faot that the intention of
the Lieut. Gov. of the Illinois was to provide them with the
necessaries of life, to all nations situated along the upper
Missouri and for this reason had formed a company composed of
geveral merchants of 8t. Louis for whom I was agent to establish
a trading post among the Mandans for several years; that unfor-
tunate and unforseen events had prevented my reaching there la:t
fall, that I would certainly reach there during the coming summe
after the arrival of & pirogue laden with merchandise which I wa

expecting during July or August. I assured them that the compan
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of the Missourl was ready to favor and to help them." He asked

<
ghem for their support and co-operation, asked them to work for

peace among the Indians and conocluded by tellingzgzen that they
gust etop trading with the English on Red River,

When the six Indians returned on July 14th, they did not
pave the horses but they brought an answer from the two French
traders among the Mandans. They pledged their support to

rrudeau and reported that the Mandans ahd Gros Ventres were anx-
805
jous for the French to come.

Trudeau finally built his house in 1796 and called it the

Pawnee House., When Lewis and Olark moved into the ngota coun-
3086
try, September 8, 1804, they passed Trudeau's post.

203, 1bid,, II, 19
From the Introduction to Part I of the Journal of J. B. Trud
deau written by R. R. Hill in M,H.8.C., P 300, "The Com-
mercial Company for the Discovery o the Hations of the
Upper Missouri was organigzed at 8t. Louis in 1793-924,
articles of association being drawn up May 13, 1794. lilh-
ing to put their first expedition under the command of an™
educated man, the associated of the company requested True
deau to take charge of the party. It was to proceed up the
river as far as the Mandan villages with merchandise to the
amount of 30,000 pesos. The instructions given to Trudeau
are dated June 30, 1794. Paragraph 42 instructs him to
keep a daily account of all occurrences and observations
and to send a copy each year to the director and to keep a
dupliocate.”

204, Ibid., II 19

205, Ibid., II, 234

306, Constant Marks, "Pierre Durion," 8§ D H 0 = II, 68
8ioux Falls, So. Dak. 1904

Coues, ed. History of the g;gedition of Lewis and Clark, I,
112 :
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One of the Frenchmen engaged by Lewis and Olark was
pierre Durion, & French trader who had had long experience among
2307

the Indians and whose home was at Yanktdn. Durion was probably
208
the first white man to make his home permanently in South Dakota$

gis wife was a Yankton Indian and hig-gon Pierre was a grown man
209
when Lewis and Clark arrived at the James River in 1804.

pierre Durion was engaged as guide for the Astoria party in 1810
yany Frenchmen who acted as guides for %such American parties ﬁtrJ
second or third generation settlers of the west,

Another post enoountered by Lewis and Clark in September
1804, was that of Loisel on Cedar Island.aloThere are many
islands today called, "Cedar Island.®" The location of the one

referred to is not clear. There is a map in the collection of

Indian Manuscripts called, Map of Towns on Migsouri River, In-
211

habitants Owning land near Bon Homme dated 1780, on which is
indicated & strip of land labeled *Loisel! between the LeCompté&

Rivcr on the South and the Orevecoeur River on the north. Both
of these rivers are south of the Bon Homme River., Loisel
wintered at this post during the winter of 1803 in order to

trade with the Sioux.

2307. Marks, "Pierre Durion,? 68
208, Ibid., II, 68

209, Histoly of the Expddf Lewis and Clark, I, Coues
p. 106, ¥0ld Durion and his hopeful Pierre were not the bes

ethnological experts in the world, but perhaps the highest
authorities that the expedition had on hand,*

310, Ibid., I, 138

2ll, Photostat of map in Indian Mms, St.,, Missouri Historical
Library Society, 8t. Louis




- 84 -

The biographical information concerning Loisel, also re-
corded as Louasell, introduces a different type of trad;; into
the west. Regis Loisel was born in Assumption parish, in lower
¢anada and came to St, Louis from Michilimackinac in 1793. He
was hired by Oharles Gratiot as the clerk for August Chouteau.
The following is an extract of a letter written by Gratiot to
Chouteau, from Mackinaoc, July 12, 1793. "I send you Loisell
whom I have hired for your élerk. I hate made no other positive
arrangements with him except my word that you will give him $300
salary for one year. You will be enabled when you are familiar
with his merit and abilities to retain him in your employment fo¥
which I to answer from the____ of available recommenda-
tions made of his oogducf.'ala

Evidently, Loisel's merit and abilities were satisfactory
to Chouteau because he became a partner in the firm of Clamorgan
and Chouteau and remained with them until his death.zlzin May
1800, Loisel married Helene, daughter of Jaques Chauvin., They
three children, Josephine, Clementine and a son Regis who was
born after his fatherts death in 1805. This son became a priest
and later went to cahckia.814

The family apparently lived in St. Louis, rather thgn up

in the Dakota country. There is a record of a lot purchased by

213, Billon, Annals of 8%. Louis.
213, Ibid., 465
214, Ibid,, 465
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poisel from Francois Saucier at public sale for $400. It was
130 by 150 feet and had a house on it. There is a diac;epanoy
in the dates of Lolsel's arrival in the west. He is believed to
come to St. Louis in 1793 but he is located on a 1790 map. In
any case, he must have been a trader of some 1mportang§6to have
been & partner in the company of Chouteau, Clamorgan. His
trading post on Cedar Island was 60 or 70 feet square, built
vith red cedar and picketed in with the® same .ood.“?n this
square he built a house 454 by 33} feet and divided it into four
parts; one for gooda, one to trade in, one to be used as a com-
mon hall and one for fdmily use, Lewis and Clark's expedition
stopped at Loisel's post going up the Miésouri in 1804 and re-
turning in 1806.218There is not much further information on
Loisebs activities. He became 1ll while in New Orleans on busi-
ness for the firm in the fall of 1804. He drew up his will nam-
ing his partners as executors of his estate and died near New ~
Orleans.alg |

Another trader into the upper Missourl was Charles La

220
Raye who left Canada with an "adventure of goods" to trade on

215, Ibid,, 465

2l6. Journal of J. B. Trudeau, Part I, Intro. 3023

317, History of the Expe'df Lewis and Clark, I, 126, Note 63

318, Ibid., III, 126 and III, 1195 ’

219, Billon, Annals of St. Louis, 466 )

320. Robinson Doane, ed. "Journal of Charles La Raye® in 8 D |
H c IV, 1908, 150. "This Journal was presented by Mr.
La Raye to Jervasse Cutler, an American officer who pub-
lished it in Boston in 1813 as an appendix to & 1little work
entitled, "Topographical Descriptions of the State of Ohio,
Indiana Territory and Louisiana.® The book is very rare.
The copy from which this journal is taken cost $37.50,"
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gioned an Indian trading party that arrived from the River Chien
| (Cheyenne) in May 18, lBOB.aasA trader also came from tg; Assi-
|piboines and soon procured what furs of any value were about and
departed. On the same day Pardo decided to ascend the Missouri
on & hunting expedition with a party of Gros Ventres with whom
he was connected by marriage, having married a daughter of the
chief of the»tribe.234

Pardoc got permission of the chie¥ of the Brucilles to
take La Raye with him and after ha&ing proocured a supply of am-
munition they left together, May 37, 1803.285Thoy left the Mis-
gsouri, orossed the Cannon Ball River (S.Dak.) and visited the
Mandan Village. In June fhey were among the Gros Ventres on the
lower side of the Batteau River. Their party this time was com-
posed of nineteen Indian men, twenty-two Indian women and chil-

236
dren, Pardo, La Raye and thirty-six horses. After passing up

the Batteau River during the first part of July, 1802, they =
finally ocamped at the mouth of the Yellowstoné where they re-
mained until July 39. In September, L& Rayé was on a branch of
the Big Horn River where he spent the winter hunting beaver. In
June 1803, La Raye parted from Pardo. He wrote in his journal,
October 1803, that he was at liberty to go to the Rus Villgge.
"Here I spent the winter with a number of traders belonging to

St. Louis., The 8ioux are enemies of thoae who follow this em-

223. 1pbid., 165
224, Ibid., 165
325. Ibid., 165
226. Ibid., 170
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237
ployment on the Missouri." These traders left the Indian vil-

lage in April, 1804 and went up the Chien River to trade.

A year later La Raye met M. Pantaille, a Frenchman who had
238
long resided in the country of the Titonanah band of Sioux. To-

gether they travelled down the Missouri and after ten days jour-

ney they reached a place which he oallga“'st. John" the upper
settlement on the Missouri. Then they proceeded to the lower
settlements. They travelled in a light, shastily made canoe which
didn't allow much room for cargo. During the years that La Raye
was away from St. Louis, Louisiana had changed governments and
the Americans were now in charge of it,

Another Frenbh enterprise in the Upper Missouri country
was one sent out by the Northwest Company under the command of
Francois Antoine La Rocque.zsone left Canada with four voyageurs
and one other officer to investigate trade possibilities‘among
the Mandan Indians., Lewis and Clark and their expedition were 4
spending the winter among the Mandans that year (1804-1805) and
La Rocque reported that the Americans treated him and his party
with everyvcourtesy.aalAfter La Rocque's return to Canada, the
Northwest Company decided to definitely abandon the Missouri
valley and sent out only two expeditions to conclude the trans-

233 .
actions begun by La Rocque's party.

237, Ibid., 172

228, Ibid., 173

239, Ibid., 172

230. L.R. Masson, ed., Les Bourgeois de la Compagnie—du Nord
Quest, Quebec, 1889, I, 83

331. Ibid., I, 83

333, Ibid., I, 87
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one of the chief duties of the Lieutenant Governora at
gt. Louis during the days of Spanish rule was the regulationing
of the Indian trade. The contracts for the trade, according to
ghe records were relatively simple matters. They usually con-
sisted of the name of the trader, thgzsribe he was to visit and
the number of years he was to visit with them, If he were to be
an agent for someone, his salary was mentioned. There was an
asgreement between Alex Langlois, agentf‘and Antoine Hubert drawn
up August 14, 1768 by which Langlois was to trade with the Osage
for a period of one year for 800 livres payment.233Two signatures
are attached as witnesses, Blondeau and Labuniere. Blondeaﬁ's
name is interesting because of the possibility that he is the
settler mentioned many years later (1833) by Charles Larpentsat.

Besides giving individual traders the permission to trade
with oertain tribes, the governors made land treaties with the
Indians in order to aid the traders.assrrudcau‘reported in his+“
journal that one of the greatest obstacles to the trade were the
Ponca and Mahas Passes, He recommended that the company employ
enough young men to keep the passes c:pen.a36

There were a number of petitions from individual merchants

333, Agreements between Langlols and Hubert, Aug. 14, 1768 Fur
Trade Mms. Missouri Historical Society Library

334. Larpenteur, Forty Years a Fur trader, 7

335. Chouteau to Delassus, 1793 Indian Mms. 17235-1875, Missouri
Historical 8Bociety Library.

336, Trudeau Journal, II, 15
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for trade.237The petitiggg when granted were all listed on the
| game official document. In the year 1799-1800 the following
gt. Louis traders received permission to trade with Indian
gribes:

Auguste Chouteau, the Big and ilttle Osages

M. Sarpy, the Kaus

Benito Vasquez, the Pawnees

M. Chauvin, the Otoes

McKay, the Mahes

M. Gothy, the Poncas +

In the following year, 1800~1801, Chouteau again received
permission to trade with the Big and Little Osages.angherc
were changes among the other merchants, however. This time a
d. Beral received the Kaus and the Pawnees, while Olamorgan's
company received the Mahas and the Poncas. Benito Vasquez is
pentioned in connection with a part of the Pawnees.

Possibly the traders in 8t. Louis were acquainted with the
changing political situation of the years 1800-1804, and soughti
to safeguard their fur trading interests in the upper Missouri
Valley. The next grant of trade is much more detailegfo It was
granted at New Orleans while moast of the others were given at
§t. Louis, and specifies "the precise term of five years."

Another interesting feature of this grant is the exclusion of

237, Sarpy and Cabanne to Casa Salve, New Orleans, April 26,1800
Missouri Historical Society Library

338. Dehault Delassus, Indian Mms., Distribution of Trade Among
Indians 1799-~-1800, Missouri Historical Society Library

340, Grant of the Osage Trade, Aug. 18, 1803, Indian Trade Mms.,
Missouri Historical Society Library
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APPENDIX
MANUEL LISA, 1773-1820

The story of the fur trade, or of the development of the
American west cannot be completely told without including the
story of the Spaniard, Manuel Lisa. .Hs was the only Spaniard of
note who threatened the French monopoly of the fur trade. The
available information about his life, character and work, though
by no means extensive, is sufficient ta‘ ploture him as a dynamic
personality overcoming tremendous obstacles to further his
schemes and at the same time to perform a great service to the
United States. Chittenden and Douglas both agree that Manuel
Lisa has not yet received the credit that he justly deserves for
his part in opening and developing the great west.

In following the Indian and fur trade he had ascended the
Missouri River almost to its source. He made himself acquainted
and popular with the Indian tribes whom he kept at peace and -
friendly to the United 8tates. During his many voyages up the
Missouri, at least twelve, he built a number of forts. Fort Lim
was 670 miles above Omaha., The central post was 600 miles
further on. The Mandan villages, where he had another post were
330 miles beyond the central post, while the Fort Lisa, on the
Big Horn River, built in 1807, was 500 miles beyond the‘nandans.

Lisa seems to be the only prominent Spaniard in the fur

trade, Whether the Spaniards were not interested in the trade

or whether the French traders purposely kept them out is not
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explained or even mentioned by historians. Lisa never rgceived
any satisfaction from the local government in 8t. Louis4;hich
was entirely French. He always had to resort to the Spanish
government in New Orleans for legal protection. His great
ability was recognized by his partners- and competitors as well
but he was feared and distrusted by both groupe of men. As yet,
there is no proof that Lisa resorted to any unusual double-deal-
ing or other dishonest practices. 1In aﬁy ocase, he made some
fine and very important enemies. Lisa succeeded where some of
the other traders failed or dared not even venture. Then, en-
vious of his success, they used their ingenuity in plans to ruin
him. Lisats life could almost be written up from the history of
the lawsuits brought against him. Most of these were settled in
his favor which fact did not make friends of his former enemies.

Manuel de Lissa, a8 he called himself when he first came
to 8t. Louis, was born in New Orleans probably in 1772. About
the date of his birth there is divided opinion. Some historians
8till maintain that Lisa was born in the West Indies sometime
after 1774. There is a tombstone in Bellefontaine Cemetary in
8t. Louis that gives the date of his birth as 1772 at New Or-
leans., However, there is no entry in the church registerséat
New Orleans of the birth of Manuel Lisa. His parents were
Christobal de Lisa of Murocia, Spain, and Maria Ignacia Rogriquesz
who was born in 8t. Augustine, Florida. There is no record of

the place of their marriage. They are believed to have come to
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New Orleagzlwith the Spaniards in 1762;rpossibly later :}th
0*Reilly.

Although there is no information available concerning
pisa's childhood, it is safe to assume that it was not common-
place. When he was twenty years old&'ge was at New Madrid in
charge of a trading boat and he described himself as a merchant
of New Orleans.842About 1794 an incident occurred in which Lisa
is again mentioned at New Madrid. This*time he was returning
from a trading expedition on the Wabash River. A passenger
named Louis Dubois had fallen overboard from Lisa's boat and
drowned. Lisa and his men made an official report of his death
and an inventory of the property of the deceased man, and of the
letters with which he had been entrusted.a43

From New Madrid Lisa came to 8t. Louis., There is a con-
tract in the Missouri Historical Society Collections between
Manuel Lisa and Joseph Robidoux dated September 5, 1798. This~
is the first record of his presence in 8t. Louis. The following
summer Lisa petitioned Lieutenant Governor Trudeau for a grunt’
of land. His letter to the governor is interesting because it
shows Lisa‘'s imagination and ingenuity.

"Don Manuel de Lisa, merchant of New Orleans, for the
present in this town of 8t. Louis, and with due respect reﬁre-

sents to you that, it being his intention to establish himself

241, Walter B. Douglas, "Manuel Lisa," ¥.H.8.0., 111, 235
343, Ibid., 336
243, Ibid., 236




in this country with his family, which is now ascending‘the rives
jn a boat of his own, therefore the petitioner wishes to obtain
a concession of 6000 arpens of land---upon one of the banks of
the River Missouri in a place where may be found emptying into
said river, some other river, in ordgr,to facilitate the raising
of cattle, and, with time to be able to make shipments of salted
as well as dried meats, to the ca.pital...'a44
At the same time Lisa petitionaf'for land for hié brother

Joachim.245Both grants were approved by Governor Trudeau, and
many years later confirmed by Congress. Joachim came to 8t.
Louis in 1800 and returned to New Orleans in 1804. He seems to
take no further part in the history of the fur trade.

| Lisa prepared for his family by buying a home on the west
side of the Rue D'Eglise (3nd St.) St. Louis. The deed shows
that the sale was made July 11, 1799 from Jean Baptiste Lorin?46
If Lisa really intended to farm or to raise cattle, he changed”‘
his mind quite soon after establishing himself in St. Louis.
His later occupation as a merchant and the very nature of the
man bear out the supposition that he never planned to be a fanmr*‘
In that year, 1799, he with a number of others presented a ocom-
plaint to the Governor protesting against the trade monopoly en-
joyed by the Company of the Missouri.

This was Clamorgan's company, organized in May, 1794 and

244, Ibid., 237
245. Ibid., 338
246. Ibid., 338
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called, ¥"the Company for the Discovery of the Nations of the
Upper Missouri." It was this company that had sent out‘gean
paptiste Trudeau, 1795, a distant cousin of the Governor to ex-
plore the upper Missouri and to orgenize the Indian tribes for
trade. o
Lisa and his friends argued that "trade in peltries, the
sole and only resource which, for a long time has supported the
commerce of this country, being forbiddén to the greater part of
the citizens, must necessarily involve thermin of the merchants
who cannot hope to make a return to the metropolis, since they
are deprived of the only commodity which they could introduce
there."a47rhis monopoly hed greatly diminished the fur trade and
paralyzed commerce, they said. They argued further that if the
fur trade were left free, there would be an abundance of busi-
ness for and a greater consumption of merchandise. Finally they
begged that this trade monopoly be abolished and general "free-*
dom of commerce be restored." Lisa's petition was not granted,
at least not at this time.

It is assumed that it was a grant of the Osage trade that
brought Lisa to 8t. Louis. Lisa had made trading arrangements
with Charles Sanguinet and Gregoire Sarpy and later they were
successful in obtaining the much sought for Osage trade. |

There is not much documentary evidence concerning Lisa's

first few years in 8t. Louis., However, there are sufficient

347, Ivid., 239
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records to show that he was quite busy. There are some‘bills to
show that he was in retail trade during 1799-1800. The Record
Book of the General Courts of the Territory of Louisiana have
acocounts of lawsults during these years of Robert Mc(Clellan
against Lisa, and other suits of Lis§ gnd Benoist against Mc-
clellan.a481t seems from the record of these lawsuits that Lisa
at this time was engaged in furnishing outfits for tﬂe Indian
trade. The suits against McClellan wefb for the payment of
goods furnished, and those against Lisa were for furnishing mer-
chandise of inferior quality. It was claimed that Lisa's out-
fits were not as good as those supplied by the Mackinac mer-
chants. This litigation resulted in judgments against McClellan
who later displayed his bitterness toward Lisa by threatening hij
life when they chanced to meet in the wilderness.

In 1801 Lisa had some dealings with the Spanish govern-
ment., A letter from Governor norales,a49dated August 37, 1801f'
shows that Lisa, in connection with Don Carlos Sangu;net, was
having some dealings with the Spanish government at New Orleans,
relative to the department of guides.zsoIt is not clear just whaf
that department was. Other letters from Morales to Delassus show
that Lisa attempted to obtain from the government the contract
for supplying the provisions for the army. The Spanish army at

that time in 8¢t. Louis was the garrison stationed in the fort.

248, 1bid., a4l
349. Ibid., 250
350, Douglas, "Manuel Lisa," M.H.8.0., 241
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The contract sought by Lisa was relet to Choutau, not wit};out
jll-feeling being shown by Governor Delassus f 8¢, Louis toward
Lisa. Lisa seems to have had the bad habit olgoing over the
heads of local government officials in 8t. lois, thereby in-
curring their displeasure. 5

In March, 1803, Lisa adressed a protesito Governor De-
lassus, in the name of Manuel Llisa and Co. inthich he saggl:.
"In the preceding year a petition was p%esented to the Governor
General of this province, earnestly requestinihim to g rant us
the exclusive trade privilege, for the term oifive consecutive
years, stating in said dooument that we wouldinild at our ex-
pense, a water mill to make flour, this mill % have two runs
of stones, equipped after the manner of the Aglo Americans: at
the same time we mentioned in the above mentised petition that
we would make a donation of one thousand dolles to the King, to
be credited to the Royal Treasury for use in mpairing the fort.
For this generous offer, and calling the atterion of the Gover-
nor to the fact that this would be a general god to all the
people, he has granted us the exclusive privilge of trade,
which we requested with the big and 1ittle Osyes, who are lo-
cated at mid-distance of the Missourl River, dout forty
leagues from its mouth, with power to equip, iade and facil-
itate by every means our commerce with the sawges of that rived

Then he complained that a certain Joseph Oriithad intruded into

the trade by sending his son and two other menwith a cance loed
351. Ibid., 2423 252, 1bid., 242
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354
Chouteau made a claim against Lisa's Company.

Lisa had become one of the most important men in‘St.
touis. He was a man of tremendous energy. Chittenden estimated
that he had travelled at least 26,000 miles on the Missouri River|
alone. In addition, Lisa had made numerous voyages up and down
the Mississippi, Wabash, Ohio and Osage Rivers. Brackenridge,
who accompanied him up the Missouri in 1811 wrote in his Jour-
nal,assﬁareat exertions are made by nr;*Liaa; he is at one mo-
ment at the helm, at another with the grappling iron at the bov;
and often with a pole assisting the hands in impelling the barge
through the rapid current. When difficulties appeared insur-
mountable, the presence of this man, his orders, his voice, his
cheering exclamations, infused new energy and another effort was
crowned with success." Lisa did not trust entirely to physical
strength and his powers of endurance. He seemed to be master of
the secret of doing much in a short space of time; which con- ~
sisted not so puch in any great exertion, as in the strict ob-
servance of that economy of time which requires every moment to
be turned to advantage. Lisa's ingenuity was continusally exer-
ted in contriving means of overcoming the difficulties whioch
were constantly presenting themselves. ‘

Lisa had come to 8t. Louis as a stranger and a foreigner,
Any influence and support which he had in New Orleans was of

little help in 8t. Louis. Personally, he was a revolutionary

254, Ibid,, 343

355, Brackenridge, Journal of a Voyage Up the Missouri River,
Baltimore, 1816, 10
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and a disturber. He was not a person to whom a place could be
asgsigned. He was a leader not a follower.v His sucoesa.in
obtaining the grant of the Osage trade, 8o long the property of
the Chouteaus convinced them and their assoclates that, not only
was Lisa an interloper and an upstart,; but a dangerous person as
well, While Lisa was conciliatory with his employees and the
Indians, he was not 8o with others. He had a fiesry temper and
was impatient with opposition. His safoasm was acrid and he was
quick to strike with hand or weapon. His unusual qualities of
mind, foresight, mastery of detail made him sufficient unto him-
self and intolerant of any divided authority. His confidence in
his own powers was absolute. |

Lisa's chief defects may be due to lack of proper train-
ing in his youth. Nothing is known of his schooling except that
it was necessarily short. However, he cannot be called unedu-
cated. He had a good knowledge of Spanish, his mother tongue,”
and what might be called & working knowlédge of French and Eng-
lish. Brackenridge said that he was very fond of reading Don
Quixote, and in the inventory of his estate at his death, be-
sides his set of Don Quixote in five volumes, there were twenty-
seven books in French and Spanish, 1In addition there were many
text-books and dictionaries in English and Frenoch.

Lisat's boldness had resulted in taking the Osage trade
away from the Chouteaus. This trade was very important to St,.

Louis. Prior to 1794, the control of the trade with the Osages
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was one of the perquisites of the Lieutenant Governor af St.
pouis. No person was allowed to take part in the trade without
s special license, for which he elther paid a fee to the Lieu-
tenant Governor or made him a sharer in the profits. In this
way he supplemented meager salary paid,-him by the Spanish govern 4
ment,

In 1794, the Osages had become more than usually trouble-
some, and were committing depredationsibn the white settlers,
all the way from St. Louis to Nachitoches, so that the settlers
gecarcely dared leave their homes to work in the fields or hunt,
To restrain the Indians, it was necessary to build a fort on a
neight overlooking their principal village, which was called
xion-chou.aseauguste Chouteau offered to build the fort and to
paintain a garrison there, of twenty men, under the command of
his brother Pierre Chouteau, in consideration of the grant of
the exclusive trade with the tribe for six years, and the annugi
payment to him of $2000 with which to pay the garrison. This
loffer was accepted and the grant was made to him to expire in
1800. The Chouteaus built the fort as was required by the con-
tract, which was named Fort darondelet. It was situated on the
Osage River, at the point now called Halley's Bluff in Vernon
County, Missouri. Just what happened to the Osage trade when

this contract expired is not known, but there is reason to be-

lieve that the Chouteaus kept it until the grant was made to

[
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Lisa in 1802. .

About the time that Lisa was on his way to New Orleans in
1803, Auguste Chouteau made & claim against the partners of the
trade of the Osage nation. Lisa had not found the Osage trade
very satisfactory. The Chouteaus had. sontrolled it for so many
years that they were not disposed to yield it to & newcomer, as
Lisa was considered. The Chouteaus, Auguste and Pierre, by their
ability and by the prestige which had d;scended to them from La
Clede, by their extensive family connections and following, had
acquired a dominating influence in 8t. Louis and in the fur
trade. When the Osage trade was granted to Lisa, the Chouteaus
showed no disobedience or resentment to the government but sur-
prisingly acknowledged Lisa's right under his grant.

That grant was of the exclusive right to trade with the
Osages on the waters of the Missouri, There were no Osages any-
where else. But Pierre Chouteau, who had the right to trade “
with the Indians on the Arkansas, induced a large portion of the
Osage nation to move from their old territory and establish them
selves on the Arkansas River.asvThia division of the Osage tribe
lasted for many years. This little trick by the Chouteaus could
not possibly go unnoticed by Lisa.

The story of the case of Chouteau against Lisa is as
follows. In some transaction, Mr. Chouteau had become the pos-

gessor of an obligation of Lisa's company which became due April

30, 1803, and which was presented to Mr. Lisa for payment. Lisa
257, Ibid., 243
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declined paying it, and Choutesau had it protested and puf in
suit; whereupon the others in Lisals company immediately wrote
to Chouteau proposing to pay each his respective fourth or #332?
Lisa's partners at this time were the Frenchmen Francois Benoit,
Gregolre Sarpy and Charles Sanguinet. '

Chouteau's letter to Governor Delassus complained that
Lisa was the only one of the partners of the company who refused
to pay his portion of the debt of #1500? Governor Delassus
ordered Lisa and his partners to pay the debt in one amount.zs9

Benoit, Sarpy and Sanguinet wrote, in answer to Delassus'
order that they had not refused payment but had intended to pay
each share separately, that they had no contract of partnership.
Lisa answered separately. After acknowledging the order from
Delassus, he "humbly replies to Mr. Chouteau's petition his firm
determination to postpone for the present any further steps in
the matter until the Superior Tribunal shall deliberate, and
justly decide the merits of the case, and give a final decree
thereon. His course in the matter does not proceed from any
malicious motives but from neceasity."zsoln spite of Lisa's bold
refusal to obey the governor, he finally paid his share of the
debt.

The transfer of Louisiana to the United States, March 10,

1804, put an end to Lisats monopoly. Without exclusive rights,

358, Billon, Annals of 8t%. Louis, 18886, 334
389, Ibid., 336
260. Ibid., 336
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and with Pierre and Auguste Chouteau holding the positiop of
United States Indian agents for the Osages, his chances‘for
success in the Osage trade were small. The Chouteaus had found
great favor with the Americans upon the transfer of the counsgi.
Auguste Chouteau had been approinted prgsiding justice of the
first territorial court and along with Governor Clark and Gover-
nor Edwards of Illinois, was a commissioner to treat in behalf of
the United States with the Indians.zsa%&n splte of the poor
prospects confronting Lisa, he did not give up his Osage trade
until the influence of the chief representative of the United
States government was thrown against him.

It is characteristic of Lisa that, surrounded by obstac-
les, he should exert himself to carve out a new and unhesard of
career, His next venture, his plan to trade with New Mexico,
might be called the case of Lisa vs. Wilkinson. In 1804, Lisa
was thirty~two years old. He already had quite a fortune. He™
was known to be very successful in handling the Indians. He was
popular with his employees and he knew the great river countries

as well as the streets of 8t. Louls. He was becoming more and

more important and his greatest work was still ahead of him.,

261. Chouteau, ®*Journal,® 335
263. Ibid., 335
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MANUEL LISA PART II

In 1805 General James Wilkinson was appointed Governor of
pouisiana and seems from the first to have been against Lisa.
Evidence of Wilkinson's attitude is gpgen from his correspon-
dence with Pike and from Pike'!s Journal.zesln 1806, Pike was seny
on an exploration trip westward; he went up the Missouri River,
then up the Osage River and into the Oshge villages, the heart of
Lisats trade. Lisa brought himself into conflict with Pike at
the outset.

Pike had employed Baronet Vasquez of the 8St. Louis family,
a8 interpreter for his expedition. Vasquez had been in Lisats
employ and owed him money. Lisa used a methocd which was the cus-
tom of the time of forcing payment from a departing voyageur, by
causing his arrest and by forcing him to draw upon his new
employer in order to make payment.264P1ke recorded the incident
as follows, "We were about sailing, July 17, 1806 when my inter-
preter was arrested by the sheriff, at the suit of Manuel Lisa
for a debt between three and four hundred dollars, and was
obliged to return to St. Louis. This made it necessary for me
to write another letter to the General (Wilkinson). We cagped
about three fourths of a mile above the village.'a65The village

referred to was St. Charles, Missouri, and Pike had stopped with

263. Quaife, Southwestern Expedition of Zebulon Pike, Chicago,
1935

264, Douglas, "Manuel Lisa," M.H.8.C., 344
265, Quaife, Southwestern Expedition of Zebulon Pike, 5
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Morrison, an early American settler, son-in-law of Louis‘Blan-
chette, the founder of 8t. Charles.266 )

Vasquez produced bond and co ntinued on his way. Appar-
ently General Wilkinson had to furnish the bond, however, be-
cause he wrote immediately to Pike, "Jyly 18, 1806, I have re-
ceived your letter of yesterday, and concerning your interpreter
without date. I had taken arrangements to secure Bennete
(Baronet V.) when he appeared here and f have now become his
security. Manuel is a black Spaniard. He dined here yesterday
and left before the arrival of your letter-this was'well for
him. I shall dress Manuel and Cadet aussi. (Cadet Chouteau was
Pierre Chouteau Jr.) I will teach them how to interrupt national
movements by their despicable intrigues.267

This incident is not without its humor. Lisa must have
known while at dinner with wilkinson, that a messenger would
arrive at any moment with the news of the delay to Wilkinson's -
big enterprise. On the other hand, Lisats attempt to collect a
debt can hardly be called an "intrigue®, He merely used the law
to delay Pike as long as he could.

Wilkinson was ruling the territory with a high hand. He
had issued a proclamation in 1805 prohibiting all persons from

268
entering the Indian country except by permission under his hand,

266. Ibid., note p. 4
267. Letter of General Wilkinson to Pike, M.H.S.C., III, 246
268, Ibid., 246
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He had instructed Pike, “that if he found on his route 5ny per-
sons without a proper license or passport he was to arrest them
and to dispose of their property as the law directf?s The only
law in force then in the country west of St. Louis was that made,
as the occasion demanded, by the strgnger for the weaker. Lisa
showed himself strong enough to look after his own interests
even though they should be opposed by Wilkinson's interests.
Both men had become intereated in Soutﬁiestern trade with New
Mexico. Although there is not the same type of definite evi-
dence concerning Wilkinson's plan for New Mexican trade as there
is concerning Lisa's plan, there is the possibility that if one
expedition had been geological and exploratory, there would have
been room for a commercial expedition also. There could not
have been much conflict between the men unless they wanted the
same thing.

In August 1806, Pike wrote in his Journal, "We loaded and
took our departure for the place where Manuel Liza had his es-
tablishment. I was informed that three men had arrived from St.
Louis, sent by Manuel de Liza. I despatched Lieutenant wWilkin-
son, (James, son of General Wilkinson) to the village who
brought to camp the man who had charge of the others from St.
Louis. Having no passport, I detained him for further consider-
ation.'870

Pike was in the Osage country., "After inquiring of White

269. Ibid., 247
270, Quaife, Pike, 35
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Heir the Osage Chief, if the men of Manuel de Liza had any os-
tensible object in view, he informed me that they had ogly said
to him that they expected Manuel would be up to trade in the
{ early Autumn. I concluded to take the deposition of Baptiste
Larme a8 to the manner in which he was employed by nahuel Liza
and forward the same to Doctor Brown and the attorney general of
Louisiana, and permit the men to return to St. Louis as it was
impossible to detach a party with them ﬁa priaoners.'gvlnr. Brown
was Joseph Brown, recently of New York, whom President Jefferson
had appointed secretary of Louisiana Territory. He was & brother
-in-law of Aaron Burr, ,

A day later, after Pike had left the Osages, he was in-
formed by an Indian runner who overtook him that Cadet Chouteau
had arrived. Pike wrote, "I conceived it proper to return which

272
I did. Mr. Chouteau gave us all the news." There is & notice-

able difference in the attitude of Pike towards Chouteau as
opposed to Lisa. Although Cadeat was in disfavbr, there was no
mention of passport or detainment,

Lisa's plan for the New Mexican trade is found in a
letter of Wwilkinson to Pike, August 6, 18068, "It is reduced to
& certainty that Manuel de Lisa and a society of which he is the
ostensible leader have determined on a project to open some com—

mercial intercourse with Santa Fe, and this may lead_to a con=-

nection injurious to the United States, and will, I understand,

271. 1Ibid., 27
273. Douglas, "Manuel Lisa," M.H.S8.0., 248
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be attempted without the sanction of law or permission e; the
executive, ybu must do what you can conaistently to defeat the
plan..I am informed that the ensuing autumn and winter will be
employed in reconnoitering and opening a connection with the
retaus (Comanches) and Panis (Pawnees).that this fall or next
winter, a grand magazine is to be established at the Osage towns,
where these operations will commence; that Lisa is to be the
active agent, having formed a connecti&% with the Tetaus. This
will carry forward their merchandise within three or four days!
travel of the Spanish settlements, where they will deposit it
under guard of three hundred Tetaus. Lisa will then go forward
with three or four attendants, taking with him some jewelry and
fine goods. With those he will visit the governor, to whom he
will make presents, and implore his pity by a fine tale of suf-
ferings which have been\endured by the change of government:
that they are left here with the goods to be sure, but not a
dollart!s worth of bullion, and therefore they have adventured to
see him for the purpose of praying his leave for the introduc-
tion of their property into his province. If he consents, then
the whole of the goods will be carried forward; if he refuses,
then Lisa will invite some of his countrymen to accompany him to
his deposit, and, there having exposed to them his merchandise,
he will attempt to open a forced or clandestine trade; for he

observes the Spaniards will not dare attack his camp. Here you

have the plan and you must take all prudent and lawful means to
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blow it up.® This letter is from Coues'! edition of Pikg:s
Expedition, and is also in the American Historical Review, XIII,
800. It was first printed in the Appendix to Pike's Expeditions,
published in 1810, without Lisa's name.. When Bolton discovered
Pike's papers in the archives in Mexigg City, the letter was
published in full.273How Wilkinson acqQuired knowledge of Lisals
plan so completely is not clear, If Lisa attempted to go ahead
with it, he did not continue, because a‘year later, he had begun
his Missouri River expansion, having abandoned his Santa Fe
expedition.

In the country west of St. Louls, between 1807 and 1843,
there is evidence of a total of 140 fur-trading posts.274Lisa's
is the first of these, built after the American government came
into Louisiana., Lisa and Drouillard left 8t. Charles April 19,
1807, Drouillard was the representative of Morrison and Menard
of Kaskaskia who had joined with Lisa in furanishing the capital
of about $16,000. The interpreter of the expedition was Benito
Vasquez, younger brother of Pike's interpreter. 1In all there
were forty-two men in the party. One of Lisa's men, Antolne
Bissonette, deserted and was shot by Drouillard. He died shortly
after and his death has been blamed on Lisa &8s a man who was
cruel to his employees. Death was the usual penalty for deser-

tion and the men knew the risk they took, when they abandoned

camp. The party passed the Sioux without trouble.

373, Ibid., 248
374, Chittenden, American Fur Trade in the Far West, III, 947




- 112 -
Two other parties left St. Louls that same year shortly
after Lisa. They both travelled up the Missouri River 5§er the
same route as that of Lisa. One was the party of Pierre Chou-
teau and the other was that of Pryor., Chouteau's party was
attacked by Arikaras. Their villages gere situated on the west
bank of the Missouri about six miles.;gove the mouth of the
Grande River in what is now Boreman County South Dakota. The
river here runs from east to west so th&t the villages were on
the north ahore.2756honteau'a party was obliged to retreat after
having two men killed and several wounded. Pryor complained
that Lisa was supposed to have waited and accompanied his party
but that he got himself safely through and let the others behind
to get on as best they could.

Lisa bluffed his way through a large number of Mandans who
sought to stop and pillage him and proceeded on his way up the
Missouri. He continued on to the Yellowstone River, which he -
ascended about 170 miles to the Bighorn where he built a trading
post. His party arrived there on November 21, 1807, a month
later than Lisa expected, too late he complained, to get the
fall hunt.276Here Lisa built a house of two rooms and loft. The
fort was built in the spring of 1808, Lisa called it Fort Remon.
The men called it Raymond and said it was named for Lisa's.son,
Raymond. This child was born in St. Louis December 4, 1805 and

27
died there in July, 1811.
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It was from this post that John Coulter was sent.put in
1808 on the exploring trip during which he discovered the Yellow-
stone Canyon and geysers. Lisa left a garrison at the fort and
returned to 8t. Louls., He left Fort Raymond in July 1808 and
reached home on August 5th. It had tapken him about seven months
to go up and only about one month to return. His expedition was
now a success., Lisa was ready to organize the Missouri Fur Com-
pany. s

The Company was composed of twelve men with a capital of
about $40,000. The partners included Benjamin Wilkinson, Pierre
Chouteau 8r,, Manuel Lisa, Auguste Chouteau Jr., Pierre Menard
and william Morrison of Kaskaskia, and Andrew Henry of Louiaiizg.
The company engaged about 350 men, Canadians and Americans; the
Canadians for managing the bcats and Americans for hunters.279

The scheme was cumbersome. Kach partner was to accompany
the expedition in person or send some person approved by the -
majority of others. No definite amount of capital was fixed.
Each partner was to furnish a share of the expenses which the
majority of partners thought necessary. Peltries and furs ac-
quired by the company were to be transported to St. Louis and
divided equally among the partners, It was agreed that Lisa,
A.P. Chouteau and Menard were to be the first to go and to retum|

to St. Louis the next summer. The next to go were to be Wilkin-

278. 1bid., 2567
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son and Pierre Chouteau. Clark was to be the agent in gt. Louis
The partnership was to continue for three years or until 1811?80

The first expedition left 8t. Louis in June 1809, 1In
addition to regular company business, Lisa had agreed to escort
the Mandan Chief Shehaka, with his wifg and child back to his
home. Lewis and Clark had taken them to Washington to visit
President Jefferson. For this service, the government paid the
compeny $7,000. For its part the compé%y was required to raise
one hundred and twenty-five men, half of whom were to be Ameri-
cans and expert riflemen. The command was given to Pierre Chou-
teau, U. 8. Indian Agent for the Osages. When the party reached
the Mandan country, the military function and authority of Chou-
teau and his officers was to cease.zal

General James, who accompanied the expedition wrote, #The
whole party at starting, consisted of three hundred and fifty
men, half Americans, the remainder Creocles and Frenchmen hired ™
by Lisa, called by his meﬁ 'Esaut. We Americans were all private
adventurers, each on his own hook.“BSBOn this expedition there
were many arguments and quarrels among the men. The Americans
and the Creoles did not get along. The Americans complained
about the food and the division of wgrk.zeaThey probably had

cause for complaint about the work and the food. However,
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travellers who visited the west and met with fur traders all re-
marked the hardihood and good nature of the French voyaézurs.
The first Americans to attempt the fur trade had to hire Frenoch-
men to do most of the work.
Below Council Bluffs the expedition met Captain Crooks,

b

agent for John J. Astor who was trading with the Mohawks. The
Americans wanted to quit Lisa and join crookazetut they were in-
duced to remain with Lisa's expedition.® The party reached
Lisats fort Raymond in February, 1810. James records a threat
made upon Lisa's life sometime before they reached the fort.
Some of the American employees were in the office of the company
af Fort Raymond. One of them, named Cheek, from Kentucky, fre-
marked coolly that if he caught Chouteau a hundred yards from
camp, he would shoot him. fCheek, Cheek,! exclaimed Lisa, 'mind
what you sayf! 'I do that,' said Cheek, ' and Lisa, I have
heard some of our boys say that if they ever caught you 200 yards
from camp, they would shoot you and if they dontt, I will...Now,
Lisa you are going to the forks of the Missouri; mark my words,
you will never come back alive.? '285Lisa returned to St. Louls
in Qotober, 1808 evidently not continuing with the party to thé
forks of the Missouri. Whether influenced by Cheek's threat or

not, his return was in accordance with the articles of the Fur

-

Oompany.

During the winter of 1809-10 Lisa set out for Montreal.
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He was detained by the non-intercourse act at Detroit. The fur
market was at a standstill, He returned to St. Louis aﬁa went
up the Missouri again.aasThere is no account of this trip. The
affairs of the company were in bad condition. Lisa's agent,
Drouillard had been killed by the Blgg}feet. This was the in-
terpreter who had accompanied Lewis and Clark on their expedi-
tion. He was & French half-breed whose Indian heritage made him
the best hunter and woodsman in the party. He was a crack shot
and s8imply ixwa.lua.ble..a87

A party of trappers under the command of Major Henry had
gone to the western slope of the mountains and had not been
heard from. It was decided that Lisa should go out and search
for Henry's party. Lisa left St. Louis once more, in the spring
of 1811. He stopped at St. Charles. There he learned that the
Astoria party in charge of Wilson Price Hunt had set out a few
weeks before. Pierre Dorion was to be Hunt!s interpreter and he
was s8till in town. Lisa had Dorion arrested just as he had had
Vasquez arrested from Pike's party. Dorion escaped through the
woods and joined Hunt'!s party. Lisa tried to overtake Hunt for
the added protection through the Sioux country. One of the most
famous chases in our history followed. Lisa covered 1,300 miles
in two months of up-stream travel., The Hunt party was oveftaken
just on the edge of the Sioux country.zsa

Each party had its historian. Brackenridge was with Lisa
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and John Bradbury was with Hunt. Brackenridge admired %isa
greatly. He compared him to Pizarro and Cortez.aagﬁe, Bracken~-
ridge, entered the west soon after the Purchase. He was born in
Pittsburgh in 1786. His father, a lawyer, had been involved in
the Whiskey Rebellion of 1794. Bracﬁé‘i’aridge spent three of his
childhood years in St. Genevieve where he learned to speak Frend
80 completely that he forgot English. *?hen he returned to Pitta+
burgh to study law. When his studies were over, he returned to
St. Genevieve where he opened a law office. In 1811, he drifted
to 8t. Louis and joined Lisa's party, then about to search for
Major Henry. Brackenridge wrote that Hunt had a three weeks!'
start, and that 1,300 miles from St. Louls, Lisa overtook him.
About that time, Brackenridge became weary of western travel and
returned to St. Louis in one of two boats sent back by Lisa.
Then he studied the Spanish language and law. Later he became a
judge in the Louisiana territorial courts. 8Still later he was
sent by President Monroe to South America on a diplomatic mis-
sion, 1822,

Bradbury had a grievance against Lisa because Lisa would
not allow his boat to be stopped in order to let Bradbury get
out and search for rare plants.agonunt's party had in it several
of Lisatl!s enemies. Dorion, Robert McClellan, who had frequently

threatened to kill Lisa on sight, and Ramsay Crooks, the agent
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for John J. Astor. Lisa and Dorion started to quarrel almost
immediately. The argument between them ended by Dorion‘striking
Lisa, whereupon Lisa returned to the boat to get a weapon. He
returned to the fight with a knife in his belt, "On the above
affair, I stood twice at the risk of pmy own life between Lisa
and his antagonist."aglﬂunt restrained Dorion, and after awhile
peace was restored, and the men co-operated to their mutual ad-
vantage. Lisa found some of Henry's meh and learned that the
others were safe., Henry himself joined them later and together
they all returned to St. Louis, October 1811,

In 1811, the Misscuri Fur Company was re-organized for a
period of six years. Under the re-~organization, Lisa built Fort
Lisa eleven miles by land above Omaha, His earlier posts he
placed in the care of capable men, This company did not last
long. In 1812 Lisa was dropped from the Board of Directors and
Pierre Chouteau was elected in his place. In 1813, the presidémnt
and the directors were authorized to sell all of the property of
the cc:mpa,ny.a98

%hile Lisa was up the Missouri in 1813, Congress declared
war on Great Britain., He offered his services and was appointed
captain oggg volunteer company of infantry attached to the first

regiment,

In August 1813, the General Assembly of the Territory of
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Missouri passed an act incorporating the Bank of 8t. Logis.
Lisa, Colonel A. Chouteau, Judge Lucas, Moses Austin and Bartho-
lomew Berthold were appointed to get subscriptions for capital.
After a year or two the bank went out of business,

In 1814 Lisa took part in another civic enterprise in St.
Louis, Lisa and Theodore Hunt, & cousin of Wilson Hunt, were
appointed to supervise the erection of a bridge over Mill Creek
on present South Broadway.294Following'%his Indian project, Lisa
and Hunt formed a partnership to expire in 1817, and called it
the Missouri Fur Company. Once more Lisa set out for the upper
Missouri, August 14, 1814,

This year Lisa married a squaw of the Omaha Nation. Her
name was Mitain and she was said to be very beautiful. They had
two children, & daughter Rosalie and & son Manuel, Lisa's only
descendants.zgsnosalie was baptized in St. Louis, July 1818.
There was a notice in the Missouri Gazette of June 14, 1818, tﬁ;v
"Manuel Lisa arrived here yesterday from Fort Lisa, forty=five
miles above the River Platte, on the Missouri with a valuable
cargo of furs and peltries said to be worth $35,000., He brought
with him this year his little daughter Rosalie, nineteen months
old." Lisa also had with him twenty~four Indian Chiefs. This
was the second time that Lisa had played host to large numbers

206
of Indians in St. Louis,.
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There is not much reference to Lisat's home life. “As soon
as he arrived in St. Louis, 1794, he bought a home for gis family
but it is not clear juast who was included in this family. In
Edwards, Great West, P. 303, it is said that "his first wife had
long been a prisoner with her child among the Indians until her
release was procured by General Harrison. Her husband had been
killed at the same time that she was taken captive. Manuel Lisa
saw her and her child after she had re@ﬁined her freedom, and
pitying her misfortune and destitution, for the charm of her
besuty had all fled, he married her; gave a luxurious home to
her and her daughter and treated both in a most affectionate
manner until their death. The wife's name, following the French
fashion of using the maiden name and not the married name, was
Charles. Her first name was Mary, though she often signs it
Polly. Her first husband's name was Chew. There was a Canadian
family by the name of Charles, but it was possible that she was”
of Virginian stock." Her daughter, spoken of by Edwards, died
in February, 1809. Her death is mentioned in the Gazette as
follows: "Died this morning about ten o'clock, Miss Sally Chew,
age 16, daughter of Madame Manuel Lisa, after a distressing ill-
ness of twelve days. In the Cathedral Parish Register she is
designated as Sale Manuel Lisa. There was another daughter
called in the Register Eulalie Manuel Lisa who died February 1818
There is no record of her baptism in the Register and it 1is

likely that she was one of the family who came up from New
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Polly Lisa died, February 1818. In the following August
Lisa married Mary Hempstead Keeny. She was a New Englander,
born in New London, Connecticut in 1782. Her father had fought
in the Continental Army, and was present when the Declaration of
Independence was first read to the troops. 1In 1806, she had
married a sea-captain, & widower with children. In 1810 he died|
leaving her with a child of her own and?the step~children. She
and her family left New England for St. Louis where her four
brothers had found homes and prosperity. About a year after
Lisa's marriage to Mary, she accompanied him to his post at
Council Bluffs. After Lisa's death, Mary Lisa moved to Galena,
Illinois and remained a widow during the remaining fifty years
of her life.zggRosalie married & captain in the United States
army and eventually settled in Illinois where she raised a family
of nine children. -

General Clark had appointed Lisa as United States Indian
agent and in 1817, Lisa's commission had expired. He wrote a
letter to Clark in which he gave an account of his work. He
also took the occasion to answer some of his critics. "July 1,
1817, To his Excellency Gov. (lark; Sir; I have the honor to re-
mit to you the commission of sub-agent..I go to form another es-

tablishment to counteract the one in question and shall labor to

297. Ibid., 337

298. Ibid., 389

399. Ambrose Smith, Memorials of the Life and Character of Mary
Manuel Lisa, Philadelphia, 1870 pp, 1l1l=24
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draw upon us the esteem of these nations, and to prevent their
commerce from passing into the hands of foreigners. I £;gret to
have troubled your Excellency with this exposition. In ceasing
to be in the employ of the United States, I shall not be less
devoted to its interests. I have suffered enough in person and
in property under a different gwewmmnf to appreciate the one

under which I now live. I have the honor to be with the

300
greatest respect your excellency's obedtent servant, Manuel Lis:j

Lisa continued his fur trade until his death in 1820, wh
he died after a short illness. He left a large fortune to his
widow and made provision for the education of his son Manuel,
who survived him only a few years. There is still much to be
learned about Lisa's work in the west but it 1s apparent that he
did considerable for the country even though he furthered his
own interests at the same time. Lisa was successful with the
Indians, he was progressive, one of his last modern importation®
was a steam engine, the first one west of the Mississippi; his
most important work was up the Missouri Valley. Chittenden
wrote that it was the trader and the trapper who first explored
and established the routes of travel which are now and always
will be the avenues of commerce in that region., Lisa's engrgy
and initiative lured others to join him and to follow him. At
the time of his death, St. Louls was a city of five thousand

people and Missouri was just entering the Union as a state.

300. Chittenden, American Fur Trade in the Far West, III, 889-
903. '
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Lisa and his men had already opened up the Missouri country and
had scattered posts all the way to its source. He is aégng
those early traders who did so much to develop the Trans-Missis-

sippl West and prepare the way for American settlers.
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CONCLUSION _

The foregolng story has pointed out some of the ;ork of
Frenchmen, particularly the fur traders in the development of
the Trans-}Mississippi West. The French trader deserves parti-
cular credit for opening up the heart 9f the American continent.
Whereas other traders remained close to their oceans, at Hudson'J
Bay, at Albany or at Vancouver, handy to the yearly arrival of
ships, the Frenchman with a companion ahd as often alone, packed
his canoe and went up the river as far as it would go. As a re-
sult, our earliest maps of the Trans-Mississippi West are French
maps.

An attempt has been made herein to show how the French
explorers, beginning with Father Marquette in 1673, surveyed the
Mississippl Valley, and how they tried to make Frenchmen in
Canada and in Europe acquainted with new France. In Europe,
French men and women were enthusiastic about the New World but <
the Canadian government resented the drifting of its population
to the vast woods of the west. Unfortunately, this attitude of
the Colonial government hampered the French settlements of the
west., There were numerous difficulties in the regulations of
the fur trade, and in the habits of the traders. ‘

After Father Marquette'!s memorable voyage through the
Mississippi Valley, Frenchmen steadily went ahead to occupy the

western country. Their story exhibits the remarkable personal

bravery and the phenomenal physical endurance of the fur trader.
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When, a few years after the war of 1812, the Anglo-Ameri-
cans swarmed westward to settle the Louisiana Territory, they
found many Frenchmen to guide them to their new homes. A typi-
cal trace of these men is seen in Torrington, Wyoming, where
there are two monuments side by sides +One tablet, erected in
1931, commemorates the end of one of the pioneer trails, which
stopped just below that point. The other is an old stone
tablet marking the grave of Paul Guerr;;r, age 52, who died in
1858, Because of its historical significance the grave never
was moved and the town has grown up all around it.

As the anglo-American population about the fur trading
posts increased, the French popuiation was overwhelmed and lost
its national characteristics. Place names were changed in most
cases to English-sounding ones, The Chien River became the
Cheyenne. Rouleau Nebraska, named for & retired French voyageur
is now called, "Rulo." LaCharette, once a village of eighty B
French families is now known &as Marthasville, Missouri. Among
place names in Nebraska that are still French are these; 8t.
Bernemn, St. Edward, Rochon, Burchard, Dubois, Lemoyne, Bayard,
Bertrand, Brule, Fontanelle, La Blanc, Verdigre and Papillon.
County names are Scotch and English. It would be interesting to
learn what influence was so firmly entrenched in the above loca-
tions that the tide of American emigration did not sweep it away.

In conclusion it must be admitted that a tone of finality

is lacking in this brief record. Much remains to be written




about Frenchmen in the Trans-Mississippi West,

only serve as a survey.
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and this‘work can
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